









CPOMS Systems Limited

Unit 7, Acorn Business Park, Skipton, North Yorkshire, BD23 2UE 01756 797766 | <u>support@cpoms.co.uk</u> | <u>www.cpoms.co.uk</u>



Table of Contents

1	Using CPOMS for the first time	
2	Key User - Full System Access	6
3	Higher Level Dashboard	7
4	Viewing an incident	9
5	Adding an Incident	
6	Adding an Action	
7	Editable Incidents and Actions	
8	Student Information	
9	Reporting	
10	Useful Reports Guide	
11	Planner	54
12	Library	57
13	Admin	62
14	Settings	63
15	Training Mode	64
16	Imports	
17	Categories	67
18	Agencies	70
19	Calendar	72
20	Users	72
21	Transfers	
22	Groups	
23	Maps	
24	Form Builder	
25	Custom Field for 'People Involved' when using initials in incident text	
26	Integrations	
27	CPOMS Authenticator App – Setup and FAQs	
28	U2F Key setup	
29	Extra Features	
30	Non Key User - Restricted System Access	
31	Viewing an Incident	
32	Adding an Action	
33	Adding an Incident	
34	Extra Features	
35	Frequently Asked Questions	
36	CPOMS Support	



Welcome to CPOMS

1 Using CPOMS for the first time

When we set up your CPOMS system, we are provided with a list of all staff names and email addresses, which is the information we need to create each user log in.

The system works on a user group basis, which allows us to ensure that each user has the correct amount of access to certain information.

Firstly every user needs to set their own password.

To ensure that all users change their password to something that is personal and secure, we <u>do not</u> provide you with a password to begin with.

To create your first password please **visit your school's CPOMS URL.** This can be found at the top of your 'Welcome to CPOMS' email *(sent to the main contact only)*.

Click on the 'Forgotten your password or using CPOMS for the first time?' option (beneath the 'Login' button).

0)
CPOMS Prima	ry Schoo
Email address Password	۲
Login Forgotten your passw CPOMS for the fire	ord or using st time?
Login using your CPOM	S SSO account

When prompted, input the email address which was supplied to us and click **'Reset Password'**. This will then send you a unique hyperlink, *to that email address*, which will enable you to create your first CPOMS password.

Please note, <u>the reset password link</u> **expires at midnight** on the day it was sent, so should be generated on the day you are going to log in to CPOMS.

Therefore, when starting to use CPOMS, we recommend that you **share your CPOMS url** (web address) with users and advise them to click on the 'Forgotten your password or using CPOMS for the first time?' option themselves, to avoid the link expiring.



If you receive the error message **'the email address you entered does not exist'** when trying to reset your password, then it is likely that we have a different email address assigned to your account, or that your account has not yet been created.

In this case, please contact your CPOMS Administrator in school to check this, within the CPOMS **'Admin'** area > **'Users'** tab.

1.1 'Identity' or 'SSO'?

<u>Some</u> schools will have an additional option on their CPOMS log-in page for **'Login using your CPOMS SSO** account'. (See screenshot)



Users who have access to multiple schools, or who also use CPOMS StaffSafe, can request a 'Single Sign On' (SSO) account.

A SSO account allows you to maintain one email, password and key, to gain access to multiple CPOMS sites without having to sign out. You simply switch between schools using a drop-down menu.

On request, you can also choose to amend the alert email address for each of your SSO schools so that the relevant CPOMS alerts go to the relevant school email address, if required.

	If you have been set up with a 'SSO' account:-
\bigcirc	 When resetting your password please choose the 'Authentication Provider' > 'CPOMS sso' When logging in to CPOMS for the first time, select the 'Login using your CPOMS sso account' option, before entering your email address and password. Once selected, your internet browser should remember this setting in future.





Please note, only schools with users who have access to multiple CPOMS sites will see these options.

1.2 How do I get an SSO account?

In order to create a 'SSO' account for you, you must already be a user on each schools CPOMS system, with your preferred email address. Once this is arranged, please send us a request via the 'Contact Support' option, within your CPOMS log-in. Please include the name and post code for all schools you require access to.



2 Key User - Full System Access

2.1 Logging in

Higher level access users also require a 'Key', as well as entering their email address and password. This may be a 'Soft Key' using the CPOMS Authenticator App, or a physical USB key (available to purchase on request, for those who are unable to use the app only).

Each key acts as the third element of security in CPOMS.

You will only ever be granted full access to the system when using the correct email address, password and key code.

2.2 'Soft Key' using the CPOMS Authenticator App

The app (Soft Key) works in much the same way as the latest revisions of Internet Banking in that it generates an ever changing 6-digit security code (to use alongside your email and password) to enable higher level access to CPOMS.

The app must be downloaded to an iOS or Android tablet/ smartphone device but can be used to log in to CPOMS on all internet enabled devices, including your laptop/ PC – the app simply provides the passcode to input.



To log in using your Soft Key, firstly enter your email address, password and click 'Login'.

Next, when prompted open up your CPOMS Authenticator app and press **'Approve'**. If the approve option does not appear, *or you do not have access to the internet on the app device*, you can also manually type in the 6-digit number instead.

If you have not setup a 'Soft Key' please click here for the instructions.



3 Higher Level Dashboard

The Higher Level Dashboard displays a range of different search options to the left side of the screen.

- C The 'Quick Student Search' box will find any part of any pupil name and present you with a corresponding list.
- Beneath the 'Quick Student Search', is the 'Monitored Students' check box which will produce a list of all the pupils who are currently being monitored under any of the categories that you have access to.
 - A pupil becomes monitored automatically when they have had an incident added to their profile by a staff member, or when they have been manually monitored from within the student overview.
- As well as 'Include Archived Students', which will allow you to do any of the two previous searches and include any pupils who have now left the school, e.g. the last year 6 or 11 class.

You can also 'Filter by Group' to produce a full class register, and a note will appear next to their name of any categories pupils within that class are currently monitored under.





C Lastly, you can **filter by a specific category** to see who is currently monitored under the chosen category name.





4 Viewing an incident

On the right-hand side of the dashboard is the **'Alert'** section. If you have been alerted to an incident or action these will be listed when you log in, along with any reminders you have set.

If you have been sent any alerts at all, you will also receive an email to your school email address (or the one which we have been given) to make you aware of the fact that you have been sent an alert by a member of staff in school.

The email will tell you who has created the alert and which category it falls under but <u>no other information</u>. It will then give you a link to your CPOMS login page to view the content in full.



Once logged into the dashboard you will see your list of alerts. It will again tell you which member of staff has alerted you, which student the alert is about, the category(s) the incident falls under and when the incident alert was created.

If you now click on the word 'Incident' you will be taken directly to view the incident, highlighted in yellow.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guid It is your responsibility to logout and protect th	de Contact Sup he security of studen	ort CPOMS FAQ	REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School 🚽	Dashboard	Reporting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incident 👻 🌲 👻 LOGOUT
Quick Student Search		Dashboard	
Press Enter to search	Q	Alert	Added
 Monitored students Include archived students 		Chloe Kelan add d an Incident for annah Greenwood Child Protection Home Issues	4 years ago by Chioe Kelan
		Chloe Kelan added an incident for Danielle Bradshaw Home Issues	4 years ago by Chloe Kelan
Filter By Group		Wendy Abbott added an incident for Asif Hussain SEND	4 years ago by Wendy Abbott
• RA • RB		My Assigned	Added
• 1A • 1B		You are not assigned any open cases.	
• 2A • 2B		My History	Added
- 3A - 3B		You have not logged any incidents or actions in the last 7 days.	

With full access you are able to see more than the singular incident to which you have been alerted.



If you have access to every category, you will see every incident registered in the system for this particular student.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Suppo It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student in	t CPOMS FAQ formation.	REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard	Reporting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incident 🚽 🌲 🛨 LOGOUT
Links	Hannah Greenwood (1B)	
	Overview Incidents Contact Details Document Vault Attendance Student Report Audit Re	port Monitoring History
	Incidents Toggle p	parent categories Show all actions New incident
	Read by 1 Show Alert Options S Add L	inked Student 🔳 Show Audit History 💠 Options 🗸
	Chice Kelan 45 Mr Greenwood was spotted outside of the school gates at the end of the Sun 231/02/016 15:50 Sun 231/02/016 15:50 criming to pick Leah up, and informed me that she was aware of the situs seen him on her way in. She also managed to prevent both Hannah and distress. Status: Closed Assigned to: Laura Wild Linked Students Matthew Greenwood (59)	school day, Mrs Simpson had seen him when she was tion with the Greenwood family and that she had just Matthew from seeing their father and causing any Edited Fri 21 August 2020, 12 23PM to Enclose
	Chloe Kelan alerted you to this incident.	next aler > mark as read
	Add Action	\smile
	Show Alert Options & Add L	inked Student 🔳 Show Audit History 🌣 Options 🗸
	Jenny Doyle 36 Sun 23/10/2016 12:32 Child Protection Goodal Services Status: N/A Assigned to: Nobody	dn't explain why.
	Associated Actions Add Action	show actions (1)

Once you have read the incident, you can then **mark as read** to acknowledge that you have seen the incident and understand the content. Once you mark an incident as read it will remove the alert from your dashboard alerts section.

mark as read

The incident will then filter into the student's incident log at the appropriate *point e.g. if it is the most recent, it will be at the top.* If an incident has been backdated it will filter in below any others that are more recent.



5 Adding an Incident

There are several different ways to add a new incident to CPOMS with full access.

The new incident form can be found by selecting 'Add Incident' to the top right-hand corner of your CPOMS dashboard.



Or, if you locate the name of the student, following any of the search methods explained earlier. Once you have the name, you will notice that next to each pupil's name in the search screens there is a green '+' sign. You can click on this to add a new incident to this student.



You will also find another 'New incident' button within the 'Incidents' tab of each individual student's profile.



To access a students profile, click on the student's name following a search and select the second **'Incidents'** tab. The **'New incident'** button is at the top right-hand side of the page.

You will then be taken to the 'Add Incident' form, where you can fill in all of the details about the incident.



Add Incident Form (Key Holder)

Hannah Gre	enwood (1B)
hew Greenwood (5B) • •	
Incident	
Categories	E. Malanzal, D. Marakana, D. Daharan, D. Dahara, D. Dahara, P. Guadala, Dahlara Januar, D. Anaraka, Annana, D. Abid Guadani, D. Obid Daharakana.
	Communication Control WE External Agence Honoreman (Honoreman Streams) Premise states a Control Contro Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Co
Linked student(s)	Begin typing a student's name Type a student's name to link them to this incident.
Maps	
Date/Time	Wed 06 January 2021 11.36AM
Status	Active
Assign to	Begin typing a staff member's name
Files	Click to browse or drag a file to upload
Alert Staff Members	Begin typing a staft member's name
	ST Teaches Type a colleague's name or select an alert group to alert them to this incident. Colleagues highlighted in red would not normally be able to view this incident.
Agency Involved	
Add to planner	0
	Submit Incident

C Incident

Fill in the **'Incident'** text box with all of the details about the incident which you are adding. This is a free text box so you can add as much or as little as needed. Be careful to be **accurate** and **specific**.

Hide Names Feature

When inputting any linked student names into the incident text box, please ensure that you spell their name **identically** to how it is spelt within your MIS. This ensures that if you do need to use the 'Hide Names' feature when reporting in the future, their name will be detected and blanked out.

If a student mentioned in the incident text will <u>**not**</u> be linked into the incident their name will not automatically be picked up by the 'Hide Names' feature should you need to use it.

If recommended by your LA/Safeguarding Advisor <u>or</u> you have followed our 'People Involved' custom field guidance, on use of initials, you may use their initials instead as well as terms such as mum/ dad/ brother/ sister within the incident text.

If you do choose to use initials in your incident/ action text, please <u>click here</u> to see our suggestion for a 'People Involved' custom field where you can record their full name.



Categories

Once you have filled in all of the details about the incident, you need to select at least one category to assign it to. If there is an overlap you may select more than one.

C Linked student(s)

You can then choose to link in other students if more than one is involved in a particular incident. This will copy the incident to all pupils selected. You can also click to monitor the linked student under the same category(s) if necessary and choose whether to share any documents you attach to the incident to their profile(s) as well.

C Maps

The 'Maps' feature allows you to apply numbered markers to a map image to support your incident text. This will default to our 'Body Map'.

More about Maps

If required, you can choose to disable our default 'Body Map' image and upload your own.

You can also add additional maps i.e. a location map of the school layout, or a face/ hand/ foot map to allow you to apply more accurate marker points to the image.

For further information, <u>click here.</u>

© Date/Time

Following this you can select a date and time. These will both default to the current date and time, however if you wish to change it to when the incident actually occurred you can do so here.

C Status

You may set the 'Status' of the incident to 'Active' or 'Closed'. This field can be reported on, so you are able to view 'Active' incidents only for example.

C Assign to

You may also assign an incident to a specific staff member (*Key Holders Only*) if you or they will be dealing with it, by selecting their name in the 'Assign to' field. The user will then receive an email notification to alert them to this and the incident will appear in the 'My Assigned' area of their dashboard until the incident status changes to 'Closed'. *This field can be reported on, so you are able to view incidents assigned to a specific staff member, or 'unassigned' incidents.*

C Files

If you would like to attach a file/ document to support the incident *e.g. a social services letter, previous school case notes, or meeting minutes etc.* you can do so at this point. Simply click to browse and find the relevant document on your machine and add or drag a file from one of your folders into the area to upload.

C Alert Staff Members

Next, you can choose which members of staff you wish to alert. Begin typing a name and CPOMS will filter through all CPOMS registered staff members for you to select from. Alternatively you can select to alert an entire alert group by choosing the relevant alert group button(s) available beneath the individual alert option.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 13 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



C Agency Involved

You can also add any agency names to the incident to make others aware of which agencies are involved with this incident/ pupil.

C Add to Planner

For any reminders, tick 'Add to planner' and fill in your reminder details. This is useful if you wish to follow something up or want to have a month by month view of the incident's progression.

Once all of the above has been done, you must select the **'Add Incident'** button to submit. This will then send out email alerts to all of the selected staff members telling them that they need to log in to CPOMS to look at a newly added incident.

Agencies and Categories

Your Agency and Category lists were compiled by the school during the implementation stages.

If you would like to add any more agencies, and/ or categories you can do so within your CPOMS **'Admin'** area. (Admin Key Holders Only)



6 Adding an Action

Once you have added or read an incident and dealt with it, you can then log an action. This is very similar to the incident logging and you can choose to alert other staff in the same manner. You can then make sure that there is a clear trail of what has been done, by whom and when. This ensures that everyone alerted has an up-to-date knowledge of what is happening with that student/ incident.

Add Action Form (Key Holder)

POMS Primary School -	Dashboard Rep	oorting Planr	ner Library	Admin	Account Setting	5			Add Inci	dent 🚽	* *	LOGOL
inks		Hanna	h Gre	enwo	od (1B)						
ibling - Matthew Greenwood (5B)	•	Overview	Incidents	Contact Deta	ills Documen	Vault Attend	ance Student Report	Audit Report	Monitoring His	lory		
		Incidents						Toggle parent ca	ategories Sh	ow all actions	New in	cident
		Read by 1					Show Alert Option	ons 🔗 Add Linked St	tudent 🔳 Show	v Audit Histor	ry 🗘 Optic	ons 🕶
		Chloe Kelai Sun 23/10/2 Child Protect Status: Clos Assigned to: Linked Stude	n 016 15:50 ion Home Iss ed : Laura Wild nts	46 Ues	Mr Greenwood coming to pick seen him on he distress.	was spotted outsi Leah up, and infor r way in. She also	de of the school gates at med me that she was aw managed to prevent both	the end of the school of are of the situation with Hannah and Matthew	day. Mrs Simpso h the Greenwoor v from seeing the	n had seen h d family and dir father and	nim when sh that she hao causing an	ie was d just iy
		Matthew Gree	nwood (5B)						Edited Fri 21 A	ugust 2020, 12	23PM by Kar	rl Lodge
		Chloe Kelan	alerted you t	to this inciden	nt.		Add Action			next al	lert > mark a	as read
											<u> </u>	
OMS Primary School Linked Students Matthew Greenwood (5B)	Dashboard Rep	porting Planr	ner Library	r Admin	Acı				Add Inci Edited Fri 21 A	dent 👻	▲ ► 23PM by Kar	LOGO 1 Lodge
OMS Primary School Unked Students Matthew Greenwood (SB) ction Taken	Dashboard Rep	porting Plann	her Library	r Admin	Ac.				Add Inci	dent •	↓ •	LOGO 1 Lodge
OMS Primary School	Dashboard Rep	orting Plann	her Library	r Admin	Acı				Add Inci	sent •	▲ •	LOGOI 1 Lodge
OMS Primary School Linked Students Linked Students Linkuthev Greenwood (SB) ction Taken dd Categories dd to planner	Dashboard Rep	porting Plann	er Library	r Admin	Aa				Add Inci	tent 🗣	▲ •	LOGO 1 Lodge
OMS Primary School	Dashboard Rep	oorting Plann	er Library	7 Admin	Ac.				Add Inci	sent →	▲ •	LOGO 1 Lodge
OMS Primary School	Dashboard Rep	xorting Plann	Ner Library	/ Admin	Ac.				Add Indi	Jent →	▲ •	LOGO 1 Lodge
OMS Primary School	Dashboard Rep	morting Plann	ier Library	Admin PM	Ac				Add Indi	Jent •	23PM by Kar	LOGO 11 Lodge
OMS Primary School	Dashboard Rep	xorting Plann	Ner Library	Admin PM		ck to browse or dra	ag a file to upload		Add Indi	Jent Jugust 2020, 12	23PM by Kar	LOGO 11 Lodge
OMS Primary School	Dashboard Rep	morting Plann	ner Library	PM	Ac.	ek to browse or dra	ag a file to upload		Add Indi	3ent •	23PM by Kar	LOGO
OMS Primary School	Dashboard Rep	orting Plant	ner Library	Admin PM		ek to browse or dra	ag a file to upload		Add Indi	3ent	23PM by Kar	L0G0

C Action Taken

Firstly fill in the free text box with all of the information needed about the action taken. This could be a referral made, telephone call or meeting arranged, for example.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 15 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



C Add Categories

If required, you can add additional categories to the action which will be displayed against the original incident. Handy if it was categorised incorrectly or needs to be elevated to 'Child Protection', for example.

C Add to planner

For any reminders, tick 'Add to planner' and fill in your reminder details. This is useful if you wish to follow something up e.g. to review in 1 week's time or to input the date of the next meeting for example.

C Add action to linked students

If you would like the action to be copied to the linked students profile, click on the tick box to 'Add action to linked students' next and 'Share documents?' if necessary.



Tip - If you or another user forgets to tick 'Add action to linked students' and submit the action, you are able to share the action to the linked student's incident in the future by clicking on '**Options'** to the top-right hand corner of the action and selecting '**Add to linked incidents'**.



C Agency Involved

You can also add any agency names to the action to make others aware of which agencies are involved with this action/ pupil.

© Date/ Time

Select the date and time you wish to record, if it is different to the current.

C Files

If you would like to attach a file/ document to support the incident *e.g. a social services letter, email, or meeting minutes etc.* you can do so at this point. Simply click to browse and find the relevant document on your machine and add or drag a file from one of your folders into the area to upload.

C Alert Staff Members

Next, you can choose which members of staff you wish to alert. Begin typing a name and CPOMS will filter through all CPOMS registered staff members for you to select from. Alternatively you can select to alert an entire alert group by choosing the relevant alert group button(s) available beneath the individual alert option.

Or you may click 'Add incident alert recipients' to alert the same staff members who were alerted to the original incident.

Once all of the above has been done, you must select the **'Add Action'** button to submit. This will then send out email alerts to all of the selected staff members telling them that they need to log in to CPOMS to look at a newly added action.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 16 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



7 Editable Incidents and Actions

Admin Key Holders can choose to edit and remove both incidents and actions within CPOMS. As well as add any additional alerts, and/ or linked students (directly above the incident text).

The 'Edit' and 'Delete' features are available within each child's profile > 'Incidents' tab, to the top righthand corner of each individual incident, under <u>'Options'</u>.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Suppo It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student in	rt CPOMSFAQ Ri formation.	EMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard	Reporting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incident 👻 🌲 👻 LOGOUT
Links	Hannah Greenwood (1B)	
Sibling - Matthew Greenwood (5B)	Overview Incidents Contact Details Document Vault Attendance Student Report Audit Report M	Monitoring History
	Incidents Toggle parent cate	egories Show all actions New incident
	Read by 1 Show Alert Options & Add Linked Stud	deputitistory
	Chice Keian 46 Sun 23/10/2016 15:50 Mr Greenwood was spotted outside of the school gates at the end of the schol gates at the end of the school gates at	Pin post Print view it it Add to planner C Edit
	Chloe Kelan alerted you to this incident.	() History
	Add Action	p ₀ Merge
	Ashair Wert Ontione & Add Lioked Stur	🗠 🗶 Delete 📃 🗕 -

If you choose to edit or delete an incident, CPOMS will keep all previous versions of the incident in its change log so that nothing is ever lost. You can view any amendments made within the incidents 'History' (under 'Options').

Only CPOMS Key Holders who are a member of a User Group with the 'Edit incidents' permission will be able to access these controls.

Edit Incident	← Bac
Edit summary	
Low Summary	
	Enter a reason for this edit
Update linked incidents	Check to update all linked incidents aswell
Incident	Mr Greenwood was spotted outside of the school gates at the end of the school day. Mrs Simpson had seen him when she was coming to pick Leah up, and informed me that she was aware of the situation with the Greenwood family and that she had just seen him on her way in She also managed to prevent both Hannah and Matthew from seeing their father and causing any distress.
Categories	Attainment Attendance Behavlour Bullying Bullying/Friendship Related Issues Cause for Concern Child Contact Child Protection Communication Contact with External Agency Mome Issues Medical Issues Paratel Contact Protection Safemurrition SEND Tam Tach Incident Vehicl & Ancreache Incidente
	Child Protection Subcategories
	CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Plan CIN Early Help
Body map	
Date/Time	Sun 23 October 2016 3:50PM
	Closed
Status	



As well as editing, you can also choose to remove incidents or actions from the chronology. For all other users, it will appear as though the incident or action never existed, but those with the 'Edit Incident' permission will be able to see a deleted marker in its place in the chronology, with the option to 'View History' or 'Restore' it, as well as view the reason for deletion.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Supp It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student	ort CPOMS FAQ	REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard	Reporting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incident 🚽 🌲 🕶 LOGOUT
Links	Hannah Greenwood (1B)	
Sibling - Matthew Greenwood (5B) • •	Overview Incidents Contact Details Document Vault Attendance Student Report A	Audit Report Monitoring History
		Toggle parent categories Show all actions New incident
Inc	cident Deleted - View History Restore	
Re	eason for deletion: Incorrect student	
	Show Alert Onlinns	🕅 Add Linked Student 🛛 Show Audit History 🖄 Ontions 👻

Under <u>'Options'</u> you can also choose to print off a singular incident by clicking " 'Print view'. This will generate a PDF document of that incident only with any associated actions, which you can then choose to print or save electronically.

You can 'Add to planner' here to set any further reminders relating to the incident or action.



Pin Post

Important incidents can be pinned to appear at the top of the student's chronology ('Incidents' tab). Simply locate the incident and click '<u>Options'</u> to the top right-hand corner and 'Pin Post'.

7.1 Merging Incidents

If an incident has been added to CPOMS multiple times by different staff members, you may merge it into one incident. If you choose to 'merge' an incident, it will become an 'action' beneath the incident you choose to merge it with.

To do this, simply locate the incident that you would like to merge with and take note of the Incident ID Number. *This is the small number located to the right of the staff members name who logged the incident. This incident will become the main incident once merged.*





Next, locate the other incident that you would like to merge with. *This incident will become an action beneath the other incident*. Click on <u>'Options'</u>, to the top right-hand corner of the incident and select **'Merge'**. Input the Incident ID Number, of the incident you would like to merge with, and click 'Search'. You will then see a preview of the incident. If you are happy to merge following this, click on 'Merge' again.

7.2 Split as Incident

If an action is added to an incident and you feel it should be an incident in its own right, you are able to click on 'Split as Incident' which will add it to the system as an incident instead.

Simply locate the action and click on <u>'Options'</u>, to the top right-hand corner of the action, and select 'Split as Incident'. When prompted, select the category(s) that the incident should be assigned to, if different, and click 'Split' again.

It will then appear in the student's profile in their 'Incidents' tab, in date order.



8 Student Information

Once you have submitted an incident, you will be taken back to the student's whole incident log, and the incident which you have just added will be highlighted in yellow.

This page is the student's entire incident log. If you have access to all of the categories in CPOMS, you will be able to see every record held for that particular student.

The incidents will be listed chronologically from the oldest at the bottom to the newest. You can select to open all actions associated with each incident at once by clicking **'Show all actions**' at the top of this page, or alternatively select to open the actions associated with each individual incident as you read them.

By selecting the **'Toggle parent categories'** it will show you both the parent and sub-category assigned to each incident. *The system will default to show you just the sub-category.*

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student inform	CPOMS FAQ nation.	REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS School Dashboard Reporting Planne	er Library Admin Account Settings	🜲 🚽 LOGOUT
Links	Hannah Greenwood (1B)	
Sibling - Matthew Greenwood (5B) • •	Overview Incidents Contact Details Document Vault Attendance Student Report Audit Report M	Ionitoring History
	Incidents	Toggle parent categories Show all actions New incident
	Viewed by 2 Show Alert Options	Ø Add Linked Student
	Chice Kelan Fri 1008/2018 15:50 Child Protection Home Issues She also managed to prevent both Hannah and Matthew from seeing their fath	I day. Mrs Simpson had seen him when she was coming to senwood family and that she had just seen him on her way in. er and causing any distress.
	Linked Students Matthew Greenwood (5B)	
	Chloe Kelan alerted you to this incident.	next alert > mark as read
	Add Action	

At the top of the page you will see several different tabs. These all hold different information about the student.



8.1 Student Overview

If you click on the **Overview** tab, you will see all of the basic information about that child such as their D.O.B, Gender, SEN status, Medical Conditions etc.

All of this information is imported from your MIS system, and as such any new information which is added or updated within your MIS will be imported into CPOMS by the following day.

Combined maps will show you your CPOMS map image(s). If you click on a map you will be able to see any placed markers, from the students various incidents, combined. Any related incidents will be listed to the right-hand side, and when hovered over, will highlight the markers related to that incident in green.

There is also an **'Incidents by category'** pie chart which shows a break down of all incidents logged, by category for that pupil. As well as a timeline diagram which shows you the incidents logged over a period of time, handy for noticing any patterns that are forming or an improvement once an intervention has been put into place.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support CPC It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student informatio	DMS FAQ							REMI	ND ME	HIDE NAMES	BLANK SCREEN	
CPOMS School Dashboard Reporting Planner	Library Admin Ad	count Settings									🜲 👻 LOGOUT	
Links Sibling - Matthew Greenwood (5B) • •	Hannah G	reenwood Contact Details	(1B) Document Vault	Attendance \$	Student Report	Audit Rep	ort Monit	toring History				
	Overview 🔣								(Edit in	formation	
	Gender	Female	Date of Arrival	09/03/2009	Admi	ssion Date	09/03/200	09 DI	OB (Age)			
	Categories	Child Protection	Home Issues									
	Keywords											
	Agencies	Social Services	5									
	Special Needs											
	Medical Conditions											
	Unique Identifier	Unique Identifier 12349 Admission 007822					007822					
	Date of Arrival	09/03/2009			Admi	ssion Date	09/03/200	19				
	MIS ID ()	12349			Pupil	Premium	Yes					
	In LEA Care	No			Free	School Meals	No					
	Tutor Group	1B			Ethni	city	White - Br	ritish				
	Religion	Christian			First	Language	English					
	English As Additional	No			SEN	Status	No Specia	al Educational Ne	ed			
	Language				Emer	gency	No					
	Gifted/Talented	No Medical Consent										
	Blood Group	N/A			Pregr	hant	No					
	Combined Bodyma	p									*	
	Incidents by C	ategory (All Time)			Timescale:	Past 6		mon	ths Ge	nerate Dow	nload as Image	
		Behaviour Bullying	f	Home Issues								
		2 Child Protection Home Issues		Child Protection			1					
		Medical Issues		Month	Feb 18	Mar 18	Apr 18	May 18	Jun 18	Jul 18	Aug 18	
	c	POMS © 2018, CPOMS S	Systems Limited.	v5.11.1 View our cool	kie policy I 🍏							



By clicking on the 'Edit information' button, to the right-hand side of this tab, you can also do the following:-

C Alerts

At the top of this page, you can choose who you would like to receive automatic alerts about this student, if required. Simply type in part of their name in the 'Alert Staff Members' field and select it.

C Links

Under 'Links' you can see any linked students for this child, i.e. siblings, as per your MIS. You may also add links of your own manually here, *which are not picked up by your MIS*, for friends, cousins or neighbours etc.

C Monitoring Options

• Summary

The 'Summary' field allows you to add a summary line which will appear at the top of the students overview on save. This could be their Social Worker's details, or a note regarding the student for example.

• Categories

Here you can manually monitor a student for a certain category by ticking the category name, or likewise un-monitor a student for a certain category if it is no longer required by un-ticking the category name.

• Keywords

You may add keywords for this student here i.e. allergy, wears glasses etc. which you can then search by later.

• Agencies

Here you can manually flag up agency involvement by clicking on the field and selecting from the drop-down list, or likewise remove their involvement if it is no longer required by clicking the 'x'.

Once you have made any changes here, please click 'Update Student' to save.



your responsibility to logout and protect the security of studer	nt information.			REMIND ME HIDE NAMES	BLANK SCREE
POMS Primary School - Dashboard	Reporting Planner Libra	ary Admin Account Settings		Add Incident 🚽	🜲 🚽 LOGOL
inks	Hannah Gr	eenwood (1B)			
Sibling - Matthew Greenwood (5B) • •	Overview Incidents	Contact Details Document Vault Atter	dance Student Report Audit Report	Monitoring History	
				Edit	informatior
	Gender	Female	Gender Identity		
	Date of Arrival	09/03/2009	Admission Date	09/03/2009	
	DOB (Age)	01/01/2008 (12 Years, 10 Mont	ns)		
	Attendance Trend				
	Categories	Child Protection			
MS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support	CPOMS FAQ			REMIND ME HIDE NAM	ES BLANK SCR
MS Priman (School – Darbhaard Rand	nion. rtina Plannor Libraov Admi	in Account Soltings		Add Incident -	
				Add monderic -	
ks	Hannah Gre	enwood (1B)			
ing - Matthew Greenwood (5B) ●●	Overview Incidents	Contact Details Document Vault Attendance	Student Report Audit Report Monitoring	History	
	Alerts	and to an about more there are incident in addeed about this a	to dent		
	Alert Staff Members	Design turning a staff member/s name	tudent.		
		Selected staff members will receive an alert every tim	e an incident is added about this student.		
	Links				
	Student		Link		×
	Matthew Greenwood (5B)		sibling		
	Matthew Greenwood (5B) Begin typing a student's n	ame	sibling • type a link name		
	Matthew Greenwood (5B) Begin typing a student's n Monitoring Options Summary	ame	sibling type a link name		
	Matthew Greenwood (5B) Begin typing a student's n Monitoring Options Summary	same	sbing type a link name		
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Begin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Apeno.	sbling type a link name type a link name type Bullying/ Friendship Related issues C C Home issues C Medical issues Parental	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Sequarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Begin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Team Teach Incident Verbal & Aggressive Inc Dhild Porachin Substancial	sibling type a link name ying Bullying/ Friendship Related Issues C Q Home Issues Medical Issues Parental dents	ause for Concern 📄 Child Contact 🗷 Contact 📄 Prevent 📄 Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Begin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Team Teach Incident Verbal & Aggressive Inc Child Protection Subcategories CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection	sibling type a link name type a link name type Bullying/ Friendship Related Issues © C Home Issues © Medical Issues © Parental tents Plan © CN © Early Help	ause for Concern 📄 Child Contact 🗷 Contact 📄 Prevent 📄 Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Begin typing a students in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords	Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Team Teach Incident Verbal & Aggressive Inc Child Protection Subcategories CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Begin typing a keyword	sibling type a link name type a link name type Bullying/Friendship Related Issues © Q Home Issues © Medical Issues © Parental sents Plan © CIN © Early Help	ause for Concern 📄 Child Contact 🗹 Contact 📄 Prevent 📄 Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Begin typing a students in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Team Teach Incident Verbal & Agercssive Inc Child Protection Substagedraft CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Begin typing a keyword (x. Social Services)	sbling type a link name ying Bullying/ Friendship Related Issues C Where Issues Medical Issues Parental Parents Plan CIN Early Help	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Begin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Team Teach Indent Verbal & Aggressive Inc Child Protection Subcategories CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Regin typing a knyword [x Social Services]	sbling type a link name tying Bullying/ Friendship Related issues Q Home issues Medical issues Parental stents Plan CIN Early Help	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Begin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies Personal Details	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Team Teach Incident Verbal & Aggressive Inc Child Protection Subcategories CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Begin typing a knyword X Social Services	sbling type a link name type a link name	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Begin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies Personal Details Groups	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Team Teach Incident Verbal & Aggressive Inc Child Protection Subcategories CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Regin typing a keyword [x Social Services] [18]	sbling type a link name tying Bullying/ Friendship Related issues g Home issues g Home issues g Redical issues g Redical issues g Redical issues g Redical issues	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Begin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies Personal Details Groups	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Tam Teach Incident Verbal & Aggressive Inc Child Protection Subcategories CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Regin typing a keyword X Social Services [18]	sbling type a link name tying Bullying/ Friendship Related issues g Home issues Medical issues gentaria Early Help	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Begin typing a students in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies Personal Details Groups Academic Year	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Tam Teach Incident Verbal & Aggressive Inc Child Protection Subcategories CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Regin typing a keyword X Social Services	sbling type a link name tying Bullying/ Friendship Related issues gild Home issues gild Home issues gild Redical issues gild Early Help	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Regin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies Porsonal Dotails Groups Academic Year	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Tam Teach Incident Verbal & Aggressive Inc Child Protection Substategories CAF © Cause for Concern © Child Protection Begin typing a keyword (x Social Services) [18] [19] [10] [10] [10] [10] [11] [11] [12] [13] [14] [15] [15] [15] [15] [15] [15] [15] [15	sbling * type a link name ying Bullying/Friendship Related Issues CO Ø Home Issues Medical Issues Parental Issues Plan CIN Early Help	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Regin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies Personal Details Groups Academic Year	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with Extend Agency Team Teach Incident Vertrait Agency Child Protection Subcategorial CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Regin hyping a knyword Regin hyping a knyword [# Social Services] [1B] [Update Student]	sbling type a link name tying Bullying/ Friendship Related issues Parental sents lan CIN Early Help	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Regin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies Personal Details Groups Academic Year Danger Zone	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Contraction Contact with External Agency Team Teach Incident Verbal & Aggressive Inc Child Protection Subcategorite CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Regin typing a knyword Regin typing a knyword [# Social Services] [1B] Update Student	sbling type a link name tying Bullying/ Friendship Related Issues C @ Home Issues B Medical Issues Parental Sents Plan C IN B Early Help	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Regin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies Personal Details Groups Academic Year Danger Zone Unlink student from MIS Once you unlink a student	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agence Team Teach Incident Verbal Agencesive Inc Child Protection Subcategories CAF Cause for Concern Child Protection Begin typing a keyword [15 Update Student]	sbling type a link name tying iii Bullying/ Friendship Related Issues iii C iii Bullying/ Friendship Related Issues iii Parental atents Plan iii C IN iii Early Help	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection
	Matthew Greenwood (SB) Regin typing a student's in Monitoring Options Summary Categories Keywords Agencies Personal Dotails Groups Academic Year Danger Zone Unlink student from MIS Once you unlink a student f	ame Attainment Attendance Behaviour Bu Communication Contact with External Agency Team Teach Incel Aggressive Inc Child Protection Subcategories Child Protection Subcategories Begin typing a keyworld Fit Social Services IB Update Student	sbling type a link name tying Bullying ' Friendship Related issues Common Cine Early Help formation about them in the MIS.	ause for Concern Child Contact Contact Prevent Safeguarding	Child Protection

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 23 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



8.2 Incidents

The second tab is the **Incidents** tab which we have already seen in detail, this is where you will find the student's full chronology, and the 'New incident' button.

8.3 Contact Details

This holds the main contact details for each pupil.

You may also add any additional contacts directly to CPOMS, *i.e. the student's assigned Social Worker*, using the **'Add contact'** button in the top right-hand corner.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student info	CPOMS FAQ mation.	REMIND ME HI	DE NAMES	BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard Re	porting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incider	ıt -	🜲 🕶 LOGOUT
Links	Hannah Greenwood (1B)			
Sibling - Matthew Greenwood (5B) • •	Overview Incidents Contact Details Document Vault Attendance Student Report Audit Report	Monitoring Histor		\frown
	Hannah Greenwood			Add contact
	Address 54 Springview Telephone			
	Detyshire Email DE47 3NQ			

8.4 Document Vault

The **Document Vault** is the fourth tab along and can hold any type of document which you may wish to upload to CPOMS. Once a document is uploaded to CPOMS it is encrypted so it is highly secure.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Supp It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student	Nort CPOMS FAQ	REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard	Reporting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incident 🚽 🖡 🗕 LOGOUT
Links	Hannah Greenwood (1B)	
Sibling - Matthew Greenwood (5B) • •	Overview Incidents Contact Details Document Vault Attendance Student Repo	rt Audit Report Monitoring History
	Document Vault	New document
	Date ID File	Uploaded By Options
	10/04/2016 I 🗟 Greenwood_File.docx	Helen Casper Options -

Documents which were added to an incident/ action will also be listed here (*if you have access to the category that they were assigned to*) with a link to view the original incident/ action.

If you add a document directly to this area you can also choose to alert staff to the fact that it has been added, under 'Options' > 'Alert users'.







If required, you can choose to download all documents associated with a student into a zip file here.

Simply tick the very top tick box (*In between the titles 'Date' and 'ID'*) which will select all, or *if you do not wish to download all simply tick the documents you require one by one*. A new button for 'Actions' will now appear to the right-hand side of the screen. Click on this option and 'Download selected'.

Overview Inc	cidents	Conta	ct Details	Document Vault	Attendance	Student Report	Audit Rep	port Monitoring Instory
Document Va	ult							Actions - New docume
Date		ID	File				U	Uploaded Alert users

This will create a zip file containing all of the selected documents. The zip file usually appears to the bottom left of your internet browser for quick access and is usually saved in the 'Downloads' folder of the machine you are on *(depending on your individual machine settings)*.



Please note, if the student has multiple pages of documents, you will need to follow the above instructions on each individual page.

8.5 Attendance

The fifth tab is **Attendance**. This holds the basic attendance data for the student and will be up-to-date as of the previous day.

It will also show present and absent marks over time in a calendar format, handy for spotting any patterns that are forming.



CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support C It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student information	POMS FAQ REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREI alfon.
CPOMS School Dashboard Reporting Planner	Library Admin Account Settings & LOGO
Links Sibling - Matthew Greenwood (58) • •	Hannah Greenwood (1B) Overview Incidents Contact Details Document Vault Attendance Student Report Audit Report Monitoring History Attendance (this academic year) Download Attendance as Image Segmence Occoder Normer December January Fébruary Matrix Field Matrix Field<
	Sessions %
	Present Accordent Ed. Activity
	Authorised Absences
	Possible Attendances
	Including Lates before reg. closed
	Lates after reg. closed Unexplained Absences



8.6 Student Report

Tab six is the **Student Report** tab which allows you to report on all of the information held within the system for this particular student. The report will include the student's basic data at the top (*which you can filter out if required, using the 'include in report' tick boxes*).

Page 27 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



8.7 How do I run a full student report/ chronology?

To run a full student report in CPOMS, access the student's profile via their class list, or using the 'Quick Student Search' option and click on their name, into their profile.

- Within the student's profile, click on the **'Student Report'** tab.
- © Under 'Include in report' tick to include **'Incidents'** in addition.
- In the additional 'Filter Incident' options that now appear, you may wish to tick 'Include Linked Incidents' to ensure you receive any incidents the student has been linked in to also. You may also wish to choose to Hide Student and/ or Staff Names in the report.
- © For all records, please ignore the further filter options, or you may apply specific dates or select certain categories within the 'Filter incidents' options.
- © Scroll down to the 'Report format' and amend this to 'PDF (print view)'.
- If required enter a 'PDF password' to password protect the report, and 'Generate Report'.
- © This will then generate a PDF copy of the student's incidents which you can then print or save electronically.

You can run all reports within CPOMS in 'Enquiry View' to view the report on screen, or 'PDF (Print View)' to create a printable PDF copy.

8 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Hannah Gre	enwood (1B)			
- Matthew Greenwood (58) • •	Overview incidents	Contact Details Document Vault Attendance	e Student Report Audit Report	Monitoring History	
	Report on	Student			
	Filters				
	нерогт туре	Listing			
	Include in report	👩 Name		ULN	
		Manual Upload ID	Date Of Birth	Gender	
		Class	Categories	Kaywords	
		Agencies Section Etherational Manda	Medical Conditions	D of Benjum	
		Attendance %	Address	a indicants	
		Student ID	Incident Timeline		
	Separate Page Per Pupil				
	Filter incidents				
	Between dates	and	-		
		Include latest activity? Last 7 days Clear di	tes		
	Containing				
	Staff Members	Begin typing a staff member's name			
		Type a colleague's name to only see incidents	logged by them.		
	Catagories	Behaviour Dullying Child Protection	🗇 Home Issues 🖂 LAC 🖂 Medical Issu	es Prevent SEND	
		Any All Exclude			
	Agencies	C Social Services C School Nume C Polic	a 🗆 CAMHS 🖂 Educational Psychologist	C Youth Offending Team C SENCO	
		Any Al Exclude	e [] erene [] conservation and design	Change and they Copped	
	Include linked incidents				
	Hide	Student Names Staff Names			
		Do not show students with no incidents			
	Incident Order	Neveral feat			
	Include in report	Student Name	Text	Categories	
		Agencies	Date Time	Created By	
		Edited By	Linked Student Names	Stadent Class	
		👩 Incident Status	Assigned to	Body Map	
		Documents	Actions		
		Actions			
		Taxt	Agancies	Edited by	
		Created by	Occuments	👩 Date time	
	Report format				
		Generate Banet			

8.8 How do I download the student's documents/ files?

Once you have run the student report, you may wish to download the student's documents/ files as well.



To do this, access the student's profile via their class list, or using the 'Quick Student Search' option and click on their name. Within their profile, click on the **'Document Vault'** tab.

To download all, click on the very top tick box (In between the titles 'Date' and 'ID') which will select all, or if you do not wish to download all simply tick the documents you require one by one. A new button for **'Actions'** will now appear to the right-hand side of the screen. Click on this option and **'Download selected'**.

Overview Incidents	Contac	t Details	Document Vault	Student Report	Audit Report	Monitoring History			
Document Vault		ID I	File				Uploaded By	Actions - Ne Alert users	ew document
19/07/2022		36	Attendance_Letter_202	2.docx			Suzanne Maxfield	Qptions -	
19/07/2022	<	37	Report.docx				Suzanne Maxfield	¢ <u>Options</u> -	
19/07/2022		38	Learning_Plan_2022.de	DCX			Suzanne Maxfield	‡ <u>Options</u> →	

This will create a zip file containing all of the selected documents. The zip file usually appears to the bottom left of your internet browser for quick access and is usually saved in the 'Downloads' folder of the machine you are on (depending on your individual machine settings).



Please note, if the student has multiple pages of documents, you will need to follow the above instructions on each individual page.

8.9 Printing a single incident

To print off a singular incident, locate the incident within the student's profile, **'Incidents'** tab, click on **'Options'**, in the top right-hand corner of the individual incident, and select **' Print View'**. This will generate a PDF document of that incident only and any associated actions, which you can then choose to print or save electronically.

MS Primary School - Dashboard	Reporting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incident -	🜲 👻 LOGOU
ks	Hannah Greenwood (1B)		
ing - Matthew Greenwood (5B) • •	Overview Incidents Contact Details Document Vault Attendance Student Report Audit Report	Monitoring History	
	Incidents Toggle parent	t categories She	Options ▼
	Read by 1 Show Alert Options & Add Linked	Stude	ist
	Chice Kelan 44 Mr Greenwood was spotted outside of the school gates at the end of the school gates at the end of the school gates at the end of the school coming to pick Leah up, and Informed me that she was aware of the situation usen him on her way in. She also managed to prevent both Hannah and Mattry distress.	n him	iew planner
	Linked Students Matthew Greenwood (5B)	ew frc	y
	Chloe Kelan alerted you to this incident.	≫ Merge	
	Add Action	a morgo	



8.10 Hiding Names in a Student Report

When you are running the report, in the 'Incident Filters' you will find the option to 'Hide' either Student Names or Staff Names (or both).

When you select to hide Student Names, you can choose to hide 'All' names, or 'Just Linked' names only. If you choose to hide 'All' names, the name of the student whom the report is written about will be hidden, as well as any linked students. If you choose to hide 'Just Linked' names, the name of the student whom the report is written about will not be hidden.

Please note, the system is only able to hide the first name, surname (or both) of the student for whom the report is written and any other students who are linked into the incident, as long as it is spelt identically to how it is registered in your MIS. It will <u>not</u> hide shortened/mis-spelled versions of the names if used, or the names of any other students who are not linked into the incident. These Student Names are hidden within the incident/ action text.

When you select to hide Staff Names, the name of the staff member who wrote the report will be hidden to the left-hand side of each incident, as well as the name of the staff member it is 'Assigned to'.

We would always suggest that before you print out a report, that you first run it in the report format 'Enquiry View' to check that all the required names are removed from the text. Once you are happy with it, you can then run it as a 'PDF (Print View)'. If you then find a name in a report that you wish to hide, you can either link in the required student(s) or edit the text of the incident/ action to use initials instead, for any names that cannot be linked, and re-run the report. If this is required by your in-school procedures.

If there is a particular name or initials you wish to redact from a report as a one off, you can enter this in the 'Redact words or phrases' option before generating the report, which will redact it from the report you are generating. Simply type in the name/ initials and select it to add, you may add more than one word/ phrase.

8.11 Audit Report

The Audit Report tab details all activity on the system for that particular student to refer to if needed.

8.12 Monitoring History

The final **Monitoring History** tab provides the date and time stamp of when the student became monitored, and un-monitored for the relevant categories.

This is also available in a timeline view where you can look back at the students monitoring history throughout their school life. This area is handy for noticing any patterns e.g. if perhaps the student has been on and off a certain category.

A student will automatically become monitored as new incidents are added by staff, you can also choose to monitor a student manually within their 'Overview' tab, by selecting the 'Edit Information' button (to the right-hand corner). From here you can simply tick the relevant category name(s) and scroll down to 'Update Student' to save.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 30 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support CP It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student informati	OMS FAQ on.				REM	IIND ME HIDE NA	AMES BLA	NK SCREEN
CPOMS School Dashboard Reporting Planner	Library Admin Account Setting:	5					4 •	LOGOUT
Links Sibling - Matthew Greenwood (5B) • •	Hannah Greenw Verview Incidents Contact Monitoring History Behaviour Bullying Child Category Child Protection Henri Issues	vood (1B) Details Document Vault Protection I Home Issued Started - - Mon Aug 13 12:45:50 2011 Mon Aug 13 12:45:50 2011	Attendance Student Report	Audit Report Prevent SEND Ended - = =	Monitoring History	dov E 2	vnload history tr Duration t days t days	o csv îii
	Child Protection		Timescale:	Past 6	mor	Generate	Download as	s Image
	Home Issues Month	Feb 18 Mar 1	8 Apr 18	May 18	Jun 18	Jul 18	Aug 18	
	CPOMS © 2018	3, CPOMS Systems Limited.	v5.11.1 View our cookie policy 🌱					

Q: How to un-monitor a student

To un-monitor a student for a certain category, access their profile, *via the class list or the quick student search*, on their 'Overview' page, click on the **'Edit Information'** button. Scroll down the page to the 'Monitoring Options' area and simply un-tick the category(s) you would like to un-monitor them for, and 'Update Student'.

This is important to ensure your monitored student figures are accurate and up to date.

Q: How to monitor/ un-monitor in bulk for a certain category

To monitor or un-monitor a group of students for a certain category, from the main dashboard you can either click on your different category names (to the left-hand side, to see who is monitored for what), or you may click into a class list (i.e. a whole tutor group or year group). Next, to the right-hand side of the screen (above the student names) you can select to **'Update Categories'**. Once selected, a tick box will appear to the left of each student's name, tick the relevant students that you wish to monitor/ un-monitor and 'Continue'. You can then choose a category name and choose to either 'Add' or 'Remove' it from the selected students, as well as choose a start date, or if needed you may wipe all categories.



9 Reporting

The **Reporting** button at the very top of your screen, *between Dashboard and Planner*, allows you to report on much more information about multiple students.

9.1 Overview

The first tab of reporting presents you with an overview of your CPOMS, listing the total number of current monitored students and the total number of incidents logged in the system and under which categories <u>during the current academic year</u>.

To the right you will find your whole school attendance figures, as well as your highest and lowest attendees at the click of a button.

OMS Primary School 🗸 Dashbo: Rep	porting anner Libra	ry Admin Account	Settings	Add Incident - 🌲 - LOG
eporting				
verview Attendance Graphs Custom Repo	rt Saved Reports			
Categories	Monitored	Incidents		Total
Attainment	0	0	Attendance	96%
Attendance	0	0	Authorised Absences	652
Behaviour	10	0	Unauthorised Absences	207
Bullying	3	0	Lates	903
Bullying/ Friendship Related Issues	0	0	 Highest Attendance 	100%
Cause for Concern	0	0	► Lowest Attendance	66%
Child Contact	0	0		
Child Protection	4	0		
Communication	0	0		
Contact with External Agency	0	0		
Home (ssues	10	0		
Medical Issues	2	0		
Parental Contact	0	0		
Prevent	0	0		
Safeguarding	0	0		



9.2 Attendance

The second tab along is the **Attendance** tab. This will break down your school attendance by class and show you how each different class attendance compares to the school average.

You can also click into a particular class to see a breakdown of attendance per student, sorted highest to lowest.

You may also choose to filter your attendance by many parameters by selecting the **'Show Filters'** option (above the attendance table).

CPOMS Website CPOMS Use It is your responsibility to logout and p	er Guide Contact Support CPOMS FAQ votect the security of student information.			REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School	 Dashboard Reporting Planner 	Library Admin Account Settings		Add Incident 👻 🌲 👻 LOGOUT
Reporting				
Overview Attendance	Graphs Custom Report Saved Report	s		
		Show filters		
Tutor Group	Students	Avg. attendance	Avg. % attendance	+/- compared to school avg.
RA	5	5	92.88%	
RB	6	б	94.57%	
18	20	19	95.69%	
1B	20	19	94.46%	
2A	20	19	94.1%	
<u>2B</u>	20	20	97.81%	
<u>3A</u>	20	19	93.79%	
<u>3B</u>	20	19	95.31%	
<u>4A</u>	20	19	95.82%	
<u>4B</u>	19	18	93.66%	
<u>5B</u>	20	19	96.64%	
<u>5A</u>	20	20	95.65%	
<u>6A</u>	20	20	97.55%	
<u>6B</u>	6	6	95.83%	
Totals:	236	225	95.43%	

Using the filters, you may look at your 'Monitored' students attendance only – Now, Ever, or between a certain timeframe, or the attendance of those who are monitored for a particular category, e.g. your Child Protection children only.

Further filters include Pupil Premium, Religion, Age Range, SEN Status, Ethnicity, Gender, Year Group and many more.

This allows you to change certain aspects of your attendance to see how they impact upon current levels of attendance.



POMS Primary School	 Dashboard 	Reporting	Planner	Library	Admin	Account Settings			Add Incident	* -	LOGOU
						Hide filters					
Monitored				Ŧ							
Monitored categories											¥
	🖲 Any 💮 A	JI 🔘 Exclud	le								
rchived Students	Include) Only									
	Before -										
ndividuals	Begin typing	g a student's r	name								
	© Only ⊛ I	Exclude									
iender											٣
ender identity											
	Any Any A	VI Exclud	le								
ge Range	Lower Age							Upper Age			
Attendance range (%)	Attendance	higher than						Attendance lower than			
gencles											
	 CAMPS Any A 	I Educationa	ai Psychologi le	ISL 🔲 POII	ce 🔲 Scr	oo Nurse 🔲 SENCO 🔲 Social	Sei	vices Touri Oriending learn			
roup(s)	Click to sele	ect groups									
	Any Any A	VI Exclud	le								
rst Language	Click to sele	ect first langua	ages								
	Only I	Exclude									

9.3 Graphs

The next tab in the Reporting section is **Graphs**. These are several different managerial graphs which you can look at and export to give you a more visual overview of information held in CPOMS.

The current graph capabilities are:-

- C Absences by Class
- © Incidents by Category
- © Incidents by Month
- C Monitored Students
- © SEN Status
- © Student Ethnicity
- © Student Religion
- C Unauthorised Absences
- C Absence by Class Graph

Interactive mode allows you to hover over the chart to see specific values. **Image mode** allows you to save or copy the graph into another program by dragging it or right-clicking the image and 'save image as'.



	Dashboard Reporting Planner Library Admin	Account Settings	Add Incident 👻	🜲 🗝 Logou
Reporting				
Overview Attendance Graphs	Custom Report Saved Reports			
Select a chart	Monitored Students			*
Monitored S	udents by Category Behaviour			

These graphs are only some of what we can do, if you can think of any more that may be useful to you please do not hesitate to let us know.

You may also create your own Graphs and Charts within the Custom Report section next.

9.4 Custom Report

The **Custom Report** tab combines much of the tabs we have seen before all in the one place.

Firstly you can choose what to report on at the top, 'Students' or 'Incidents'.

Report on	Students
	Students
Filter students	Incidents
Filter students by incidents	

The **'Filter students'** and **'Filter incidents'** options can then be used to narrow down the results of the report so that you can drill down into specific areas that you are interested in, e.g. by Pupil Premium, Religion, Age Range, SEN Status, Ethnicity, Gender, Year Group and many more.

Filter students	(×
Filter students by incidents	(~



Under 'Report type' you can then choose how you would like your results to be displayed:-

- **Listing** Lists the results in detail individually.
- **Summary table** Creates a numerical table displaying the number of results in each group as specified by your selected 'Primary Grouping' and 'Secondary Grouping' option if you choose one.
- **Summary chart** Similar to the summary table, but in a chart format. You can choose the type of chart once this option is selected, including Pie, Column and Bar.
- Combined graph A chart that combines two groupings on the same graph.

When **'Listing'** is selected for a Students report, you can choose what you would like to include about each student by ticking/ un-ticking the **'Include in report'** checkboxes.

When you tick to include 'Incidents,' here, you will receive extra options to only display particular kinds of incident. As with all the reporting options, if you select nothing at all, everything will be returned.

Include in report	Name	UPN	ULN
	Manual Upload ID	Date Of Birth	Gender
	Gender Identity	Class	Categories
	Keywords	Agencies	Religion
	Summary	Special Educational Needs	Medical Condition
	Pupil Premium	Address	 Incidents
	Student ID	 Archival Date 	Any active cases?
	Incident Timeline		

The summary report types are numerical and require you to group the results by some property so that they can be counted. If you choose two groupings, you will get multiple tables of results.

Redact words or phrases - if there is a particular word or phrase you wish to redact from the report, type it in this field and click on it to add. You may add multiple words and phrases here.

Order - choose how to order your report, alphabetically by surname or by age of the student.

Report Format

- **Equiry View'** allows you to run a report and view the results on screen. Handy if you need a quick glance at data.
- **(PDF (print view)'** will create a PDF copy of the report, with the option to password protect it. You can then choose to save the report electronically or print it.
- **'Excel spreadsheet'** will create a excel spreadsheet containing the results of the report you generated, which you can then further manipulate if needed.

Report Title - if you wish to save a report for future use, simply enter a '**Report Title**' and choose 'Save **Report**' when you are ready. This will save the report to your 'Saved Reports' area, within 'Reporting'.

Make report recur - as well as saving reports, you can **'Make report recur'**, it will then regenerate itself automatically within the specified timeframe - handy for reports you need to run every week/ month.



To make a report reoccur, firstly enter a '**Report Title'** and tick the **'Make report recur'** option. Further options will now appear for you to choose from.




Following feedback from our schools, this reporting tab has been designed to give you much more flexibility to manipulate the data stored in CPOMS for various purposes. For example, you may wish to know how many behaviour incidents each tutor group has had in a term, or look at pupil premium v attendance.

2_____

Report format

Report Title Make report recur Ascending
 Descending

Generate Report Save Report

This will disable the option to generate a one off report, as it requires the report to be say

Enquiry view



Q: How do I add our school logo to reports?

To add your school logo to appear in the header of PDF reports, firstly upload the school logo into your CPOMS 'Library' area, in your preferred size.

Next, navigate to your CPOMS 'Admin' area, selecting the 'Settings' tab. Scroll down to the 'School Logo', select the relevant logo here and click 'Update Settings'.

9.5 Saved Reports

The **'Saved Reports'** tab will list any reports you have chosen to save previously. You can save the filters used in a report for future use by inputting a 'Report Title' and selecting 'Save Report', when running a report in the 'Custom Report' tab.

If you click on the report name, you can easily regenerate the report in either 'Enquiry view' or 'PDF (print view)'.

If you click on **'Options'** at the end of its row, you will receive further options to choose from, *please note these options vary depending if it is a recurring report or not:-*

- Publicise If you would like to share a common report with all users who can access the 'Reporting' section of CPOMS, click on 'Publicise' it will then appear within each users own 'Reporting' area > 'Saved Reports' tab. *If a report is made public and run by another Key Holder they will only see results for the categories/ classes that they have access to.
- Change Expiry If you would like the report to stop reoccurring by a certain date you may select or edit it here.
- Create Sharing Link If you would like to share a report with an individual, you can create a sharing link. Simply click on 'Create Sharing Link', <u>please be aware by creating this link, any one with access</u> to it can view the report without a CPOMS login. Once you have created the link, click on 'Options' again, further options will now be available for 'View Link', 'Change Link' and 'Remove Link'. If you wish to share the link with someone else, click on 'View Link'. In the pop-up, choose how you wish the report to be displayed *i.e. Enquiry View or PDF (Print View) and then copy the unique web address, which you can then share with them.*

Once you know they have accessed the report, you may wish to go back to 'Options' and 'Remove Link' to revoke access.

- Regenerate If you wish to amend any of the saved report filters, e.g. update the date range, click on 'Regenerate'. You can then amend the filters to suit your needs and 'Generate Report'.
- **Edit Schedule** If you wish to amend the timeframe the report runs.
- Cancel Schedule To stop the report reoccurring.
- © **Delete** This will delete the report fully from your 'Saved Reports' section, if it is no longer required.



erview Graphs	Custom Report	Saved Reports				
ame			Created	Creator	Expires	Next Scheduled Run
iehavlour and Bullying V	Veekiy Report 👻		20/07/2022 10:42	Suzanne Maxfield	Never	22/07/2022 10:30 ▲ Publicise Change Expiry & Create Sharing Link C Regenerate C Edit schedule ★ Cancel schedule Delete



10 Useful Reports Guide

Individual Student Reports

10.1 Full Chronology Report

To run a full student report in CPOMS, access the student's profile via their class list, or using the 'Quick Student Search' option and click on their name, into their profile.

- © Within the student's profile, click on the **'Student Report'** tab.
- © Under **'Include in report'** tick to include **'Incidents'** in addition.
- In the additional 'Filter Incident' options that now appear, you may wish to tick <u>'Include Linked Incidents'</u> to ensure you receive any incidents the student has been linked in to also.
- © For all records please ignore the further filter options, <u>or</u> you may apply specific dates or select certain categories here. You may also wish to choose to 'Hide' Student and/ or Staff Names to redact any names in the report.

© Scroll down to the 'Report format' and amend this to 'PDF (print view)'.

If required enter a **'PDF password'** to password protect the report, and **'Generate Report'**.

This will then generate a PDF copy of the student's incidents which you can then print or save electronically.

If you would like to include any documents or files attached to any of the incidents/ actions, please go to the students **'Document Vault'** where you can download a copy.

How do I download the student's documents/ files?

Once you have run the student report, you may wish to download the student's documents/ files as well.

To do this, access the student's profile via their class list, or using the 'Quick Student Search' option and click on their name. Within their profile, click on the **'Document Vault'** tab.

To download all, click on the very top tick box (*In between the titles 'Date' and 'ID'*) which will select all, or if you do not wish to download all simply tick the documents you require one by one. A new button for 'Actions' will now appear to the right-hand side of the screen. Click on this option and 'Download selected'.



This will create a zip file containing all of the selected documents. The zip file usually appears to the bottom left of your internet browser for quick access and is usually saved in the 'Downloads' folder of the machine you are on (depending on your individual machine settings).



CPOMS System User Guide

Page 40 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



Please note, if the student has multiple pages of documents, you will need to follow the above instructions on each individual page.

Hiding names in a report

When you are running a report, in the 'Incident Filters' you will find the option to 'Hide' either Student Names or Staff Names (or both).

When you select to hide Student Names, you can choose to hide 'All' names, or 'Just Linked' names only. If you choose to hide 'All' names, the name of the student whom the report is written about will be hidden, as well as any linked students. If you choose to hide 'Just Linked' names, the name of the student whom the report is written about will not be hidden.

Please note, the system is only able to hide the first name, surname (or both) of the student for whom the report is written and any other students who are linked into the incident, as long as it is spelt identically to how it is registered in your MIS. It will <u>not</u> hide shortened/ misspelled versions of the names if used, or the names of any other students who are not linked into the incident. These Student Names are hidden within the incident/ action text.

When you select to hide Staff Names, the name of the staff member who wrote the report will be hidden to the left-hand side of each incident, as well as the name of the staff member it is 'Assigned to'.

We would always suggest that before you print out a report, that you first run it in the report format 'Enquiry View' to check that all the required names are removed from the text. Once you are happy with it, you can then run it as a 'PDF (Print View)'. If you then find a name in a report that you wish to hide, you can either link in the required student(s) or edit the text of the incident/ action to use initials instead, for any names that cannot be linked, and re-run the report. If this is required by your in-school procedures.

If there is a particular name or initials you wish to redact from a report as a one off, you can enter this in the 'Redact words or phrases' option before generating the report, which will redact it from the report you are generating. Simply type in the name/initials and select it to add, you may add more than one word/ phrase.





• **'Excel spreadsheet'** will create a excel spreadsheet containing the results of the report you generated, which you can then further manipulate if needed.







How to print a Graph/ Chart in CPOMS Reporting

To print a graph/ chart you have created in CPOMS Reporting, simply swap the graph/ chart from 'interactive mode' to '**image mode'**.

Once in 'image mode' you are able to right-click on the image and choose to 'save image as', or you may 'copy image' and paste the image into another program i.e. Microsoft Word and print it from here.

If you choose 'save image as', once you open the file from within your own desktop you should now have the option to print it.

Whole School Reports

10.5 Number of incidents on the system

- Solution Navigate to the **'Reporting'** area (at the top of the dashboard), and click on the **'Custom Report'** tab.
- © Select to **'Report on'** > **'Incidents'** at the top.
- © Open up the **'Filter Incidents'** options and select the date range and/ or any categories that you wish to focus on. *Leave blank for all time, and all categories.*
- © You may also wish to 'Include Linked Incidents' if this report will include incidents linked to multiple students or family based incidents.
- © Amend the **'Report Type'** to **'Summary Table'**.
- C Tick **'Show number of associated students'** for an extra column displaying the number of actual students involved per incident category.
- © For **'Primary Grouping'** leave on **'Category'**.
- © In **'Report Format'** select 'Enquiry view' to view the results on screen, or 'PDF (print view)' for a printable PDF version.
- © Lastly click 'Generate Report'.

This will give you the total <u>number of incidents</u> logged on the system during the <u>date range</u> selected. If you chose certain categories only, incidents logged against other categories will be excluded from the total.

Report Title

If you create a new report that you will need to run again, you can save the report filters by giving your report a **'Report Title'** and clicking **'Save Report'** (instead of 'Generate Report').

Saved reports can be found and easily regenerated in the 'Reporting' area > 'Saved Reports' tab.



Make report recur

As well as saving reports, you can **'Make report recur'**, it will then regenerate itself automatically within the specified timeframe - handy for reports you need to run every week/ month.

To make a report reoccur, firstly enter a **'Report Title'** and tick the **'Make report recur'** option. Further options will now appear for you to choose from.

- **Recurrence basis:-** Select the recurrence basis i.e. Daily, Weekly, Monthly.
- **Every:** Enter the number of times you wish for the report to reoccur e.g. 'Every' 2 weeks for example.
- **Start at:-** Enter the date and time you wish for the report to run for the first time.



• When you are ready, click on 'Save Report'.

Report Inte	Weekly Behaviour Report	
Make report recur	This will disable the option to generate a one off report, as it requires the report to be s	aved
Recurrence basis	Weekly *	
Every	2 Weeks	
Starts at	22/07/2022 15:30	
	Save Report	

The report will then generate on screen and appear within the 'Reporting' area > 'Saved Reports' tab should you need to update any settings.

Going forward you will receive an email notification for 'Scheduled Report Generated', including a link to view the report. A copy of each report will also be stored within 'Reporting' area > 'Saved Reports' tab.

Saved Reports tab

Once you have saved a report or created a recurring report, it will appear within your **'Saved Reports'** tab (Within the 'Reporting' section of CPOMS).

overview Graphs	Custom Report	Saved Reports					
Name			Created	Creator	Expires	Next Scheduled Run	
Behaviour and Bullyir	ig Weekly Report 👻		20/07/2022 10:42	Suzanne Maxfield	Never	22/07/2022 10:30	🌣 Options 👻
							Publicise Change Expiry Create Sharing Link Regenerate Edit schedule Cancel schedule

If you click on the report name, you can easily regenerate the report in either 'Enquiry view' or 'PDF (print view)'.

If you click on **'<u>Options'</u>** at the end of its row, you will receive further options to choose from, please note these options vary depending if it is a recurring report or not:-



- **Publicise** If you would like to share a common report with all users who can access the 'Reporting' section of CPOMS, click on 'Publicise' it will then appear within each users own 'Reporting' area > 'Saved Reports' tab.
- **Change Expiry** If you would like the report to stop reoccurring by a certain date you may select or edit it here.
- **Create Sharing Link** If you would like to share a report with an individual, you can create a sharing link. Simply click on 'Create Sharing Link', <u>please be aware by creating this link</u>, <u>any one with access to it can view the report without a CPOMS login</u>. Once you have created the link, click on 'Options' again, further options will now be available for 'View Link', 'Change Link' and 'Remove Link'. If you wish to share the link with someone else, click on 'View Link'. In the pop-up, choose how you wish the report to be displayed i.e. Enquiry View or PDF (Print View) and then copy the unique web address, which you can then share with them.

Once you know they have accessed the report, you may wish to go back to 'Options' and 'Remove Link' to revoke access.

- **Regenerate** If you wish to amend any of the saved report filters, e.g. update the date range, click on 'Regenerate'. You can then amend the filters to suit your needs and 'Generate Report'.
- Edit Schedule If you wish to amend the timeframe the report runs.
- **Cancel Schedule** To stop the report reoccurring.
- **Delete** This will delete the report fully from your 'Saved Reports' section, if it is no longer required.









- Navigate to the 'Reporting' area (at the top of the dashboard), and click on the 'Custom Report' tab.
- © Select to **'Report on'** > **'Incidents'** at the top.
- © Open up the 'Filter Incidents' options and select the 'last 7 days', under 'Between dates'.
- © Leave the **'Report Type'** as **'Listing'**.
- In 'Report Format' select 'Enquiry view' to view the results on screen, or 'PDF (print view)' for a printable PDF version.
- © Lastly click 'Generate Report'.

This will give you the details of all incidents logged in school, during the last 7 days.



- © Navigate to the **'Reporting'** area (at the top of the dashboard), and click on the **'Custom Report'** tab.
- © Select to 'Report on' > 'Students' at the top.
- © Open up the **'Filter Student'** options and select **'Monitored Students'**. You may select to report on those who are monitored **'Now'**, those who have **'Ever'** been monitored, or those monitored **'Between'** certain dates.
- © Next, scroll down to choose your 'Report type':-
 - Listing will give you each monitored student's basic information. You can choose which fields to display via the 'Include in report' tick boxes.
 - **Summary Table** will give you the total number of monitored students in each category. (Leave 'Primary Grouping' on 'Category')
 - **Summary Chart** will give you the percentage of monitored students in your chosen chart format. (Leave 'Primary Grouping' on 'Category')
- In 'Report Format' select 'Enquiry view' to view the results on screen, or 'PDF (print view)' for a printable PDF version.
- © Lastly click 'Generate Report'.

What are the Report Types?

The report type you select decides how your results are displayed:-

- Listing Lists the results in most detail individually.
- **Summary Table** Creates a numerical table displaying the number of results in each group as specified by your selected 'Primary Grouping' and 'Secondary Grouping' option.
- **Summary Chart** Similar to the summary table, but in a chart format. You can choose the type of chart once this option is selected, including Pie, Column and Bar.



• **Combined Graph** – Is a chart that combines two groupings on the same graph.

10.10 Pupil Premium vs Non Pupil Premium incidents

- © Navigate to the **'Reporting'** area (at the top of the dashboard), and click on the **'Custom Report'** tab.
- © Select to **'Report on'** > **'Students'** at the top.
- © Amend the **'Report Type'** to **'Summary Table'**.
- © For 'Primary Grouping' choose 'Pupil Premium'.
- © For 'Secondary Grouping' choose 'Category'.
- © Tick 'Separate table per secondary grouping' for a clearer view of the data.
- In 'Report Format' select 'Enquiry view' to view the results on screen, or 'PDF (print view)' for a printable PDF version.
- © Lastly click 'Generate Report'.

This gives you the total number of students monitored for each category who are Pupil Premium and Not Pupil Premium, for comparison.

10.11 Active and Closed incidents

- © Navigate to the **'Reporting'** area (at the top of the dashboard), and click on the **'Custom Report'** tab.
- © Select to **'Report on'** > **'Incidents'** at the top.
- © Open up the **'Filter Incidents'** options and select the date range, if applicable.
- © Scroll down and locate 'Status', choose 'Active' or 'Closed'. (In the 'Filter Incidents' options
- © Next, scroll down to choose your 'Report type':-
 - **Listing** will give you the full details of the 'active' or 'closed' incidents (depending which status you selected)
 - **Summary Table** will give you the total number of 'active' or 'closed' incidents against each category (depending which status you selected). (Leave 'Primary Grouping' on 'Category')
 - Summary Chart will give you the percentage of 'active' or 'closed' incidents (depending which status you selected) against each category in your chosen chart format. (Leave 'Primary Grouping' on 'Category')
- In 'Report Format' select 'Enquiry view' to view the results on screen, or 'PDF (print view)' for a printable PDF version.

© Lastly click 'Generate Report'.



10.12 Number of 'Behaviour' incidents by year

- © Navigate to the **'Reporting'** area (at the top of the dashboard), and click on the **'Custom Report'** tab.
- © Select to **'Report on'** > **'Incidents'** at the top.
- © Open up the **'Filter Incidents'** options and select your **'Behaviour'** category.
- © Scroll down, and amend the **'Report Type'** to **'Summary Table'**.
- © For 'Primary Grouping' leave on 'Category'.
- © For **'Secondary Grouping'** choose **'Year'**.
- In 'Report Format' select 'Enquiry view' to view the results on screen, or 'PDF (print view)' for a printable PDF version.
- © Lastly click **'Generate Report'.**

This will give you the total number of 'Behaviour' incidents logged per year.

10.13 Number of students monitored for Child Protection or CIN

- Shavigate to the **'Reporting'** area (at the top of the dashboard), and click on the **'Custom Report'** tab.
- © Select to **'Report on'** > **'Students'** at the top.
- © Open up the **'Filter Students'** options, under **'Monitored Categories'** choose **'Child Protection'**. Once chosen, you can choose to look at those who are monitored **'Now'**, who have **'Ever'** been monitored or those monitored **'Between'** a certain timeframe choose the option which best suits your report.
- © Under 'Monitored Categories' again, choose 'CIN' and again choose 'Now', 'Ever', or 'Between'.

Leaving the option beneath 'Monitored Categories' on 'Any'.

- © Scroll down, and amend the 'Report Type' to 'Summary Table'.
- © For 'Primary Grouping' leave on 'Category'.
- © In **'Report Format'** select 'Enquiry view' to view the results on screen, or 'PDF (print view)' for a printable PDF version.
- © Lastly click 'Generate Report'.

This will give you the total number of students monitored under Child Protection and CIN.





This will give you the total number of incidents logged by each staff member, as well as the total number of students they have logged incidents for.



10.16 Number of incidents logged by SEN Status

- Navigate to the 'Reporting' area (at the top of the dashboard), and click on the 'Custom Report' tab.
- © Select to **'Report on'** > **'Students'** at the top.
- © Open up the 'Filter students by incidents' options and select a date range if applicable or leave blank for all time.
- © Scroll down and amend the 'Report Type' to 'Summary Table'.
- © For 'Primary Grouping' choose 'SEN Status'.
- © For **'Secondary Grouping'** choose **'Category'**.
- © Tick 'Separate table per secondary grouping' for a clearer view of the data.
- In 'Report Format' select 'Enquiry view' to view the results on screen, or 'PDF (print view)' for a printable PDF version.
- © Lastly click 'Generate Report'.

This will give you the total number of incidents logged for each category, for each SEN Status.

10.17 Running a report on a single sub-category

- © Navigate to the **'Reporting'** area (at the top of the dashboard), and click on the **'Custom Report'** tab.
- © Select to **'Report on'** > **'Incidents'** at the top.
- © Open up the **'Filter Incidents'** options and select a date range if applicable or leave blank for all time.
- © Still in 'Filter Incidents', scroll down a little and under **'Categories'** select the top-level category name, once selected, you may now choose the sub-category name that you wish to report on.

Please amend the option beneath 'Categories' to 'All'.

- © Scroll down and leave the 'Report Type' on 'Listing'.
- © In **'Report Format'** select 'Enquiry view' to view the results on screen, or 'PDF (print view)' for a printable PDF version.
- © Lastly click 'Generate Report'.

This will give you the details of all incidents logged against the sub-category, during the time frame selected (if any).







11 Planner

CPOMS contains a **'Planner'** functionality, which can be accessed by those with both two-factor authentication setup and the relevant 'Planner' permissions selected within their User Group.

A CPOMS <u>Admin Key Holder</u>, can check and amend your User Group permissions via 'Admin' > 'Users' tab, by clicking on a User Group name (to the left-hand side of the page).



The 'Planner' area is available along the very top bar of CPOMS.

POMS Learning Trust		porting Planner Libra	ry Admin Account Se	ttings	Add Incider	nt 👻 🌲 👻 LOGO
Nonth Day						
< Previous			July 2022			Next >
Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat
<u>26</u>	27	28	<u>29</u>	<u>30</u>	1	2
3	4	5	<u>6</u>	<u>7</u>	TAF Meeting 8 Reminder to ring Hannah's Mum	<u>9</u>
<u>10</u>	11	12	EHCP Annual Review 13	<u>14</u>	Sports Day! 15 End of term reports due	16
17	18	<u>19</u>	20	21	22	23
<u>24</u>	<u>25</u>	<u>26</u>	27	<u>28</u>	<u>29</u>	<u>30</u>
<u>31</u>	1	2	3	4	5	<u>6</u>
Public event Shared event	Your private event Your share	ed event Your public event			ſ	Print view New event

The 'Planner' displays any events or reminders set for each month, in a familiar calendar layout.

A day view is also available, which shows a timeline style display of events for the selected day. *Click on the date number to view by day.*

Public, shared and private events are differentiated by colour. A key can be found to the bottom left corner of the Planner area.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 54 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



Public event Shared event Your private event Your shared event Your public event

You may print a copy of the calendar, by selecting the 'Print View' button, in the bottom right corner. This will generate a print-friendly PDF version which you can then choose to print.

11.1 New Event

To create a new event, click on the 'New event' button, in the bottom right corner.

CPOMS Learning Trust	- Dashboard	Reporting	Planner	Library	Admin	Account Settings	Add Incident	÷	ب	LOGOUT
New event										
	Add student lin	ik(s)								
Title		in(3)								
Tayf										
TEXL										
Event at		- 10 -								
	Add reminder	5:40								
Make event recur										
Public										
Shared with	These people wi	Il alaa raaaiya a	a plant for th	ia avant						
	Save Event	ii aiso receive a	an alert for th	is event						
	- Save Event									
Back							 			

Complete the 'New event' form:-

Add student link(s) – if the event is in relation to a student, you may add a student link.

This is useful for example if you have a case review meeting for a particular child or family. You can then click through to their profile easily from the event to run off a comprehensive incident report ahead of the meeting.

The event will also display at the top of the students 'Overview' tab, within their profile, until the event has taken place.

Title – enter a title or short summary about the event, this title will display in the calendar view.

For example, TAF/ TAC Meeting (Team around the Family/ Child), PEP Meeting (Personal Education Plan Meeting), Annual EHCP Review for student.

Text – enter any further text about your event, e.g. details of where it will take place, who else will be attending, a meeting agenda etc.



- **Event at** choose your event date and time.
- Click **'Add reminder'** to set a reminder for the event, you will then be able to choose your reminder timeframe *e.g. 1 week, 1 day, 1 hour before.*
- Make event recur if the event will reoccur in the future, tick 'Make event recur'. You can then choose its recurrence basis, e.g. daily, weekly, monthly and the number of recurrence you require. Choose your 'reminder' timeframe, if required.
- Public tick 'Public' if you would like to share this event with all key holders with access to the Planner area. <u>Not recommended for personal or confidential events</u>. If this option is not ticked, the event will automatically default to private.
- Shared with begin to type the name of any other staff members you wish to share the event with and click on it once it appears for selection, i.e. other attendees of a meeting. The event will then appear within their planner area, and they will also receive any reminders that you have set for the event.
- When you are ready click 'Save Event'.

11.2 'Edit' or 'Delete' an existing event

To edit or delete an existing event, simply locate it within your 'Planner' and click on the event title to view further information about it.

Beneath the event information, you will see buttons to 'Edit' or 'Delete'.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User It is your responsibility to logout and pro	Guid otect t	le Contact Su he security of stude	pport CPON ent information.	IS FAQ		
CPOMS Learning Trust	•	Dashboard	Reporting	Planner	Library	Admi
Event						
Created by	5	Suzanne Maxfiel	d			
Linked to	5	Student: Jimmy E	Barton			
Title	E	HCP Annual Re	view			
Text	E	HCP Annual Re	eview			
Event at	٧	Ved 13 July 202	2, 10:30AM			
Reminders		Edit Delete Re Add reminder	minder set for	Wed 13 July	2022, 10:25	5AM
Shared with	١	/vonne Clegg				
Edit Delete Month	Day					



12 Library

The Library section of CPOMS acts as a central repository to store any school or CPOMS related files.

You can choose to upload your school's generic policies, procedures and templates in this section, and alert the relevant users to said files. Alerted users can in turn mark the files as 'read and understood'. You will then have a log of who has been alerted to a file, a date and time stamp of when they last viewed it and also when they clicked to 'mark as read'.

Uploaded files are displayed in a table, including the date of upload and its size.

Do not add any confidential or sensitive documentation in the Library area.

Sensitive documentation must always be logged as a new incident, against the relevant student, with the relevant category(s) assigned to it. This ensures that only those with the correct level of access can view the information.

12.1 Allowing access to the Library

To allow access to the Library area of CPOMS, you must ensure that the 'Library' permissions are selected in each user group that requires access.

To check and amend this, go to 'Admin' > 'Users' and click into a user group name (to the left-hand side of the screen).

Scroll down to the 'System Permissions' and under 'Library':-

- C Tick **'View files'** to allow users in this user group to access and view files added to the Library area.
- C Tick 'Add files' to also allow users in this user group to add their own files to this area as well. You can leave this option un-ticked if you would like users to view files only.

	Library	
	View files	
•	Add files	
Sa	ve User Group	

Please ensure that the 'View files' permission is ticked in all of the user groups that you would like to be able to access the Library area.

Ů

Please note, by applying this permission users in the user group will be able to view <u>all</u> <u>documents in the Library</u> area, not just those you have alerted them to.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 57 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



12.2 Uploading a file to the Library

Click on the **'Library'** button, along the top bar of your CPOMS Dashboard.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide It is your responsibility to logout and protect the se	Contact Support CPOMS FAQ curity of student information.		REMIND ME HIDE NAMES	BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School 👻 🛛	ashboard Reporting Planner L	Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incident 🚽	↓ - LOGOUT
Quick Student Search	Dashboard			
Press Enter to search Q	Alert		Added	

Click on 'Upload File', to the right-hand side of the page.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide It is your responsibility to logout and protect the	e Contact Support CPOMS FAQ e security of student information.		REMIND ME HIDE NAMES	BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School 🗸	Dashboard Reporting Planner	Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incident 👻	🜲 🕶 LOGOUT
Library Into				Upload file
ID ID	Name	Size	Uploaded	
There have been no files uploaded				

Select the file you would like to upload to CPOMS via the 'Click to browse or drag a file to upload' area.

Next, you may choose to alert individual staff members, or choose one or more of your alert groups.

Once you upload the file, the chosen member(s) of staff will receive an email notification to advise they have been alerted to a file in CPOMS and this alert will also be listed on their dashboard to view on their next login. (Further on in this document we explain how to create an alert group for all staff)

Once selected click 'Upload Files'.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Gui It is your responsibility to logout and protect	contact Support CPOMS FAQ e security of student information.	REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK S	SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School 🗕	Dashboard Reporting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incident 👻 🖡 🗸 Lo	OGOUT
Upload File			
Files	Click to browse or drag	j a file to upload	
Alert Staff Members	Begin typing a staff member's name SLT Teachers rore a colleague's name or select an alert group to alert them to these files. Upload Files		



12.3 How to create an Alert Group for All Staff

Rather than alerting staff one by one to a file in the Library area, it is useful to create an Alert Group for All Staff so you are able to alert all members of staff to a document at the click of a button.

An <u>Admin Key Holder</u> can create a new Alert Group within your system by accessing the 'Admin' area, 'Users' tab, and within 'Alert Groups' (to the left-hand side of the page), select 'New Alert Group'.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Sup It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of stude	pport CPOMS nt information.	FAQ												RI	EMIND ME	HIDE NAI	MES	BLANK	SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard	Reporting	Planner	r Library	Admin	Account Set	tings									Add I	incident	- 🄺	- L	.OGOUT
Quick User Search		A	dmin		•														
]9	c	Overview	Settings	Imports	Categories	Agencies	Calendar	Users	Transfers	Groups	Add Student	Form Builder	Audits					
User Groups			Jsers													Deactivate	d users	New	user
• SLT • Teachers															← Pr	evious 1	2	3 Ne:	xt →
SLT Non-Key Temp Library Only			Name					Job Title		Group			L	ast Login					
New group			Wendy	Abbott						Teachers			N	ever				×	
			Hakim A	Aryan						SLT			N	on 13 Jul 2020				×	
Alert Groups			Katie At	kinson						SLT			N	ever				×	
. SIT			Tim Bar	tell						SLT Non-	key Temp		N	ever				×	
Teachers			Henry E	Benton						SLT Non-	key Temp		N	ever				×	
New Alert Group			Elizabet	th Best						SLT Non-I	key Temp		N	ever				×	
			Tieren E	3ham						SLT			т	hu 10 Sep 2020				×	

Firstly enter your new Alert Group 'Name' e.g. All Staff.

Next, use the arrow(s) to move across the members of staff that you require to be in the Alert Group to the box on the right, titled 'These users will be in this alert group'. To move all staff at once simply select the double arrow.

Click 'Save Alert Group'.

Additional and a contract of c	CPOMS Primary School - Dashte	ard Reporting	Planner	Library	Admin Ad	count Settings	i.			Add Incident -	* *	LOGOU
Overweit Setting Lote gole Agencies Caledar Uses Tansfers Group Add Student Fom Builde Audis	Admin											
New Alert Group Group Information Name At Start User Selection User Selection These users will not be in this alert group Tage will be in this alert group Tage to the this alert group Tag	Overview Settings Imports Cate	gories Agencies	Calenda	ar User	Transfers	Groups	Add Stud	ent Forr	n Builder Audits			
Group Information Name A I star User Selection Trees users will not be in this altert group Trees tory group name or group hype Filter by group name or group hype Filter by group name or group hype Filter by group name or group hype Filter by group name or group hype Filter by group name or group hype Filter by group name or group hype	New Alert Group											
Name A start User Selection Tree users will not be in this alter group Bowray at 60 Effect by group name or group type Effect by group name or group type Image: Selection Selection Selection Selection Selection (Section Section	Group Information											
User Selection Tese users will not be in this alert group Empry M Filter by group name of group hype →	Name	All Staff										
User Selection Tese users will be in this alert group Tese users will be interview Tese users will be inthe users will be interview Tese users will be interviewed ton t												
Insea dars win do be in this airt group terry in Filer by group name or group type Filer by group name or group type	User Selection											
Teller by group name or group hype	Empty int								Shaving all 68			
+++ + +++ <td>Filter by group name or group type</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Filter by group name or group type</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Filter by group name or group type								Filter by group name or group type			
Heter Casper (BL T Korkey Temp) Herer Kissale (Backster) Here					-							
Bernie Kurking (teachers) Lewn (byde, (teachers) Heing Stelling LT, Kraing (teachers) Heing Stelling LT, Kraing (teachers) Heing Stelling LT, Kraing (teachers) Electrate Dest (LS, T. Kraing (teachers) Rober Methods (teachers) Rober Heing (teachers) Electrate (t									Helen Casper (SLT Non-key Temp)			
Henry Berlinki (SLT Nork-Key Temp) Tim Barler (SLT Nork-Key Temp) Elizabeth Berl (SLT Nork-Key Temp) Zeta Lees (Teachers) Rolyn Jacobion (Teachers) Rolyn Jacobion (Teachers) Chile Kelan (Teachers) Damars Mader (Teachers) Damars Mader (Teachers) Damars Mader (Teachers) Damars Mader (Teachers)									Bernie Kuvalis (Teachers) Jenny Dovle (Teachers)			
Elizadent Beck (ELT-Ker) Elizadent Beck (ELT-Ker) Zetak (ELT-Ker) Zetak (ELT-Ker) Roby Roby Roby Roby Roby Elizadent Beck Elizadent Beck Elizadent Beck Elizadent Beck Elizadent Beck Elizadent Beck Elizadent Beck Elizadent Beck Be									Henry Benton (SLT Non-key Temp)			- 1
Zetika Lees (Teachers) Rope Microbio (Teachers) Rope Microbio (Teachers) Rope Median (Teachers) Chone Ketan (Teachers) Versitian Simili (SLT Non-key Temp)									Elizabeth Best (SLT Non-key Temp)			
Rodyn Jacobion (Teachers) Chloe Kealn (Teachers) Edward Ryan (SLT Non-key Temp) Chnok key Temp) Chnok key Temp) Chnok key Temp) Damar Shader (Teachers) Damar Shader (Teachers) Bett Non-Keyholder (SLT Non-key Temp)									Zelda Lees (Teachers) Rose Nichols (Teachers)			
Lindow Adamin (1967) This Adam Temp) Charles Adam (1967) This Adam Temp) Charles Adam (1967) This Adam Temp) Wendy Abdod (1962) Adam (1967) Dammar Skader (1962) Adam (1967) Damins Skader (1962) Adam (1967) Wendy Abdod (1967) Adam (1967) Damins Skader (1967) Wendy Abdod (1967) Adam (1967) Damins Skader (1967) Wendy Abdod (1967) Damins Skader (1967) Wendy Abdod (1967) Damins Skader (1967) Bell Non-Keyholder (SLT Non-Key Temp)									Robyn Jacobson (Teachers)			
Christina Simith (SLT Non-Aey Temp) Wend Abdodt (Tacknet) Dent Abdodt (Tacknet) Dent Abdodt (Tacknet) Dent Non-Keyholder (SLT Non-Key Temp) Det Non-Keyholder (SLT Non-Key Temp)									Edward Ryan (SLT Non-key Temp)			
Damarás Nador (Teachers) Bett Non-Keyholder (SLT Non-key Temp)									Christina Smith (SLT Non-key Temp) Wendy Abbott (Teachers)			
Denis Akad Patrice									Damaris Nader (Teachers) Bett Non Keybolder (SLT Non Key Temp)			
									per non neghoner (our non neg temp)			-



12.4 Alerting staff to an existing Library file

To alert staff to an existing Library file, please click on the 'Library' section along the top bar of CPOMS.

Locate the file that you would like to alert staff to, click on 'Options', and 'Alert Users'.

In the pop-up box that appears, type in the relevant staff members name(s) into the field provided or you may click on one or more of the 'Alert Groups' listed. There is also an additional check box for 'Require action' if it is needed. When you are ready click **'Submit'**.

12.5 Printing a list of who has viewed a Library file

If you have alerted staff to a file in the Library, and it says 'Read by' (next to the document name, in small writing) you can click on this and choose to download the information shown as an image. The image will show you who was alerted and by whom, the date of the alert and when it was last viewed, and also whether they have marked it as read and understood.

You can then print off the downloaded image.

12.6 Viewing and downloading Library files

To view a file in the Library area, simply click on the name of an uploaded document and it will open the file. The file will be displayed in your internet browser, or it will download a copy to your device depending on your device settings. Usually files such as images and PDF documents will open in-browser. If in-browser viewing is not supported for the file in question, clicking it will save a copy of the file to your Downloads folder or as a Temporary Internet file.



Please be careful when downloading sensitive files to your device, especially if the device is shared amongst other users. You may wish to delete the file from your Downloads folder once it has been viewed.

If you would like to save a file which opens in-browser by default, right-click on the file and select 'Save link as' (Chrome) or 'Save target as' (Edge/Internet Explorer).

12.7 Deleting a Library file

To delete a file from the Library area, please click on the 'Library' section along the top bar of CPOMS.

Locate the file that you would like to delete, click on 'Options', and choose 'Delete'.

You will then be prompted to provide a **'Reason for deletion'** please enter your reason and click **'Delete'** to confirm.



If you do not have the option to delete here, please contact your CPOMS Administrator to arrange this for you.



Deleted files are essentially hidden so that they can be restored in the future if required. To permanently delete a file, the Head Teacher or a CPOMS Admin Key Holder will need to contact us to arrange in writing, including the document ID.

12.8 Restoring a Library file

Deleted files in the Library area can be restored at a later date if necessary. Once you delete a file from this area, an additional button for 'Deleted Files' will appear to the top-ride hand side of the Library area.

To restore a file, simply click on the **'Deleted Files'** button, locate the file that you would like to restore, click on **'Options'**, and choose **'Restore'**. When prompted click **'OK'** to confirm.

12.9 Supported file types

The following file types can be uploaded to the CPOMS Library area:-

- © PDF document (.pdf)
- C Microsoft Office files (e.g. .docx, .xlsx, .pptx, .pub)
- © Microsoft Outlook/Exchange email message (.msg)
- C Any image file (e.g. .jpg, .png, .gif, .tif)
- C Any audio file (e.g. .wav, .mp3, .m4a, .wma)
- C Any video file (e.g. .mp4, .mov, .mpg, .avi)
- C Text/data files (.txt, .csv, .xml, .html)
- C Archive/compressed files (.zip, .rar, .7z, .zipx)
- C Rich text document (.rtf)
- © OpenDocument files (.odt, .ods, .odp)

This list is not exhaustive, but an example of common file types that may be uploaded to CPOMS.



13 Admin

The **Admin** area of CPOMS allows those with <u>Full Administration rights</u> only to manage your CPOMS system via the various tabs.

The CPOMS Service Level Agreement is available to download from the Admin 'Overview' tab.

Audits Integrations
Audits Integrations Yes
Yes
Yes



You may also add and update your **Main Contact Information** here. It is important to keep this accurate and up to date to ensure you do not miss important updates and communication from us.



14 Settings

Within the 'Settings' tab, you can check and amend some general settings for your CPOMS system.

These are as follows:-

- Security message: You can personalise the default security message which appears in the top lefthand side of your CPOMS system. It defaults to 'It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student information'.
- **Idle timeout:** You can also adjust the 'Idle timeout'. This is the number of minutes until the system reverts to 'blank screen mode' if the user is inactive on their machine.
- © Use legal names instead of preferred names
- © **Dashboard group type:** Select your preferred group to appear on the main dashboard *i.e. Tutor or Year Group*
- **Main group type:** Select your preferred main group type within the reporting section *i.e. Tutor or Year Group*
- © **School logo:** Select your school logo. The logo will then appear on your CPOMS login screen and in the header of PDF reports. *The logo must firstly be added to your 'Library' section for you to be able to select it here.*
- **Time zone:** Select your preferred time zone, if different.
- © Enforce at least one alert for all incidents?: If selected, an incident cannot be submitted without an alert being chosen.
- Student Name Format: Select your preference on how student names appear in CPOMS *i.e. First* Name Last Name, or Last Name First Name.
- C Attendance Trend Values: These values signify the number of days to take into account when calculating a student's attendance trend.
- C Allow student search on add incident form
- C Use email address domain whitelist: Only emails which match the chosen domain will be able to be used.
- © Disable user accounts which no longer appear in automatic extracts
- Users Use legal names instead of preferred names
- Cartaining Mode: You may also enable training mode here, please see below for more information about Training Mode.



15 Training Mode

Within CPOMS there is a Training Mode available, which can be enabled at any point. Training Mode allows you to add test incidents and actions within your CPOMS system which will disappear once the mode is disabled.

This can be used if you would like to test how incidents and actions will appear in the system, or if you would like to train staff on how they should complete the Add Incident or Action form when a disclosure is made or an incident has taken place.

15.1 How to enable Training Mode

To enable Training Mode, a CPOMS Admin Key Holder must navigate to the 'Admin' area > 'Settings' tab.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact S It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of stu	Support CPOMS FAQ udent information.		REMIND ME	HIDE NAME	S BL	ANK SCREEN	Î
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard	d Reporting Planner Librar	Admin / ccount Settings	Add Ir	icident -	A -	LOGOUT	Į
Admin Overview Settings Imports Categori	ies Agencies Calendar User	Overnew Settings Imports Categories ups Add Student Form Builder Audits					
Security Message	It is your responsibility to logout and pro	Agencles Calendar Linformation.					l
Idle Timeout	15	Users Transfers					
Non-key access to Library?		Groups Add Student					į,
Use legal names instead of preferred names		Form Builder Audits					ļ
Dashboard Group Type	Tutos Group						

Scroll to the very bottom of the page and click 'Enable Training Mode'.

Training Mode		
Training Mode is a setting applied to your CPOMS system which flags	any new/changed incidents and actions whilst this setting is enabled and allows you to revert/remove any changes once this setting is disabled.	
	Enable Training Mode	
ttps://bett2awards.cpoms.net/admin/training_mode	CPOMS © 2020, CPOMS Systems Limited. v5.17.0 👹	

Once Training Mode is enabled, a blue banner will appear across the top of the screen for all staff within your school to make them aware that Training Mode is switched on.

CPCMRS Website CPCMRS User Guide Contact Support CPCMRS FAQ It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student information.	REMIND ME	HIDE NAME	S	BLANK SC	REEN
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard Reporting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	Add In	cident -		- LO	GOUT
You're currently in training m de, click here for more into					
Training Mode					
Training Mode is a setting applied to your CPOMS system which flags any newichanged incidents and actions whilst this setting is enabled and allows you to revertiremove any changes once this setting is disabled.					
There have been no incidents or actions created during training mode. Once you create either of these, they will show up on this page.					
Disable Training Mode					

You can now add fictious incidents and actions to the system to see how these will appear in your CPOMS system. *Please note, if configured alerts are setup, or you choose to alert a staff member during training mode, the alert email will still send to the user.*



15.2 Hide Names Feature

If you are showing the system to a group of staff you may wish to choose to 'Hide Names'. This is situated to the top right-hand corner to anonymise your class lists, or who you are adding an incident/ action to.



E year responsibility to logical and protect the socially of student information.								
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard Reporting Pla	anner Library Admin Account Settings		Add Incident	- 🙏 - LOGOUT				
	You're currently in training mode, <u>click her</u>	e for more info						
Quick Student Search	Dashboard							
Press Enter to search Q. Monitored students Include archived students	Viewing students in Tutor Group 1A			Back Update categories				
	Name	Tutor Group	Categories					
Filter By Group	········· •	1A	Child Protection Home Issues					
• RA • RB	0	1A						
• 1A • 1B	······································	1A						
• 2A • 2B	0	1A						
• 3A	0	1A	Behaviour					
• 4A	······ ······ ··· ··· ··· ··· ··· · ····	1A						
• 58	O	1A						
• 5A • 6A	0	1A						
• 68	······ ©	1A						
		1A						
Filter By Category	0	1A						
Attainmont Attackage		1A						
Behaviour		1A						
• Bullying	······ ©	1A						
Cause for Concern		1A						
Child Contact		1A						
Child Protection Communication	0	1A		_				
Contact with External Agency		1A						
Home Issues	0	1A		_				
Parental Contact	•	1A	Medical Issues					

15.3 How to disable Training Mode

Once you have completed the training, to disable Training Mode a CPOMS Admin Key Holder will need to navigate back to **'Admin'** > **'Settings'** and click on **'Manage Training Mode'** at the bottom of the page.

Or, click the 'click here for more info' within the blue banner.

You will then be able to see a list of all incidents and actions that were submitted whilst Training Mode was enabled to review before deletion.



If a genuine incident or action was inputted whilst training mode was enabled, please untick the incident/ action from the list of incidents/ actions added during training mode, <u>before</u> you click 'Disable Training Mode' otherwise it/ they will be lost.



When you are ready to disable Training Mode please click on the **'Disable Training Mode'** button and enter the full name of the school when prompted to confirm.



Please note:- Training Mode only applies to incidents and actions added to the CPOMS system. Any changes made that are not on incidents and actions <u>will remain on your CPOMS system</u> e.g. any new categories added, or permissions implemented.

16 Imports

Under 'Imports' you can keep an eye on your import status and when the last import took place, plus check if there are any errors occurring.



17 Categories

Under 'Categories' you can Add, Edit or Delete/ Disable any existing categories and sub-categories.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Su It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of stude	pport CPOMS FAQ nt information.		REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard	Reporting Planner Library	Admin Account Settings	Add Incident 👻 🌲 🛨 LOGOUT
Admin			
Overview Settings Imports Categories	Agencies Calendar User	rs Transfers Groups Add Student	Form Builder Audits
			New category
Category name		\frown	\frown
Attainment		Edit	Delete/Disable
Attainment Intervention		Calif	Denie Dienvie
- Homework		Edit	Delete/Disable
Attendance		Edit	Delete/Disable
- Internal Monitoring		Edit	Delete/Disable
— Legal Action		Edit	<u>Delete/Disable</u>
Parent Contract Offered		Edit	Delete/Disable
— Punctuality		Edit	Delete/Disable
Behaviour		Edit	Delete/Disable
- Low Level Disruption		Edit	Delete/Disable
Removed From Class		Edit	Delete/Disable
- Report		Edit	Delete/Disable

17.1 Adding a new category or sub-category to CPOMS

New categories can be added by an Admin Key Holder in school.

Step 1 - Navigate to the **'Admin'** area, and click on the **'Categories'** tab. Click on the **'New Category'** button to the right-hand side of the page.

POMS Primary School 👻 D	ashboard Reporting Planner Library	Admin Account Settings		Add Incident 👻 🔔 🔻
dmin				
verview Settings Imports	Categories Agencies Calendar Users	s Transfers Groups Add Student Form Buil	ler Audits	
ew Category ame				
olour	Copy category colour *			
Colour Parent category	Copy category colour			
Colour Parent category	Copy category colour			
Colour Parent category	Copy category colour v User Group Permissions User Group	View Students	View Incidents	₽ Add Incidents
Dolour Parent category	Copy category colour v User Group Permissions User Group SLT	View Students	View Incidents	₽ Add Incidents
Dolour	Copy category colour User Group Permissions User Group SLT Teachers	E View Students	View Incidents	✓ Add Incidents
Dolour Parent catagory	Copy category colour User Group Permissions User Group SI,T Teachers SLT Non-key Temp	E View Students	View Incidents	₹ Add Incidents C C 2



Step 2 - Complete the 'New Category' form

- **Name** enter the name of your new category.
- Colour select your preferred colour for the new category lozenge, or you can click 'Copy Category Colour' to see what colours you have used before and copy if desired (useful when creating sub-categories).
- Parent Category <u>If this will be a sub-category</u>, please select the category you would like the new category to fall under here. <u>For top-level 'Parent Categories' leave blank</u>.
- © Next, choose the 'User Group Permissions' for the new category, these are:-

View Students	View Incidents	Add Incidents
This permission allows users in the group to view students 'monitored' for this category.	This permission allows users in the group to view incidents assigned to this category.	This permission allows users in the group to add new incidents to this category.

© Lastly, click 'Save Category'.

When adding an incident to the system any sub-categories will be displayed for selection once a parent category is selected.

17.2 Merging categories in CPOMS

If you need to merge categories for any reason in CPOMS, this can be done by an Admin Key Holder in school.

Please note, the merging of categories is irreversible so should only be selected if you are 100% sure.

To merge two categories together, please navigate to the **'Admin'** area, and click on the **'Categories'** tab. Next, click on **'Edit'** next to the name of the category you would like to merge.

Scroll right down to the bottom of the page and click on the 'Merge category' button.

	Danger Zone Merge Category Once you merge a Category, there is no going back. Please be certain. Merge category
١.	
	CPOMS © 2020, CPOMS Systems Limited. v5.17.0 💕

Next, choose the category name that you would like to merge with, and click on 'Merge'.





Warning: Mergi	ng categories means copying a	all the recorded information	from this category record	I to another category reco	ord and
It cannot be un	done, so please ensure that	yo <mark>u know what you are do</mark>	ing and that you selec	t the correct category b	elow.
Merge with	Begin typing a categor	/			

Once merged, all incidents assigned to the category will be re-assigned to the category you have chosen to merge with. Students currently monitored under the category will become monitored for the category you have chosen to merge with.

17.3 Changing a category name

If you need to amend a category name for any reason in CPOMS, i.e. a spelling error, this can be done by an <u>Admin Key Holder</u> in school.



Please do not change the meaning of a category when updating its name, as the new category name will be transferred to all past incidents logged against this category and also any students monitored for the category, past and present.

To amend a category name, please navigate to the **'Admin'** area, and click on the **'Categories'** tab. Next, click on **'Edit'** next to the name of the category you would like to update. Simply over-type the current category name, with the updated one, and scroll down to **'Save Category'**.

17.4 How to delete a category

An <u>Admin Key Holder</u> in school can delete/ disable categories in CPOMS. Simply navigate to the 'Admin' area, and click on the 'Categories' tab. Click on 'Delete/Disable' next to the name of the category you would like to remove.

If there are no incidents assigned to the category it will be removed in full.

If the category has incidents assigned to it, the category will become disabled. This means no new incidents can be logged against the category, but incidents logged against the category can still be included in your reports.

You may also choose to 'Enable' the category again in the future if needed.



18 Agencies

Under 'Agencies' you can Add, Edit or Delete/Disable any existing agencies.

OMS Website CPOMS your responsibility to logout a	User Guide	e Contact Supp e security of student	port CPOMS t information.	FAQ						REMIND ME	HIDE N	AMES	BLA	NK SCREE
POMS Primary Scho	ol 🚽	Dashboard	Reporting	Planner	Library	Admin	Account Settings			Add Ir	ncident		.	LOGOU
dmin														
Overview Settings	Imports	Categories	Agencies	Calenda	ar User	s Tran	sfers Groups	Add Student	Form Builder	Audits				
												(New	agency
Agency name								\bigcirc		\frown			-	-
CAMHS Educational Psychologisi								Edit		Disable				
Police								Edit		Disable				
School Nurse								Edit		Disable				
SENCO								Edit		Disable				
Social Services								Edit		Disable				
Youth Offending Team								Edit		Disable				

18.1 Adding a new agency to CPOMS

New agencies can be added to CPOMS by an Admin Key Holder in school.

Step 1 – Navigate to the **'Admin'** area, and click on the **'Agencies'** tab. Click on the **'New agency'** button to the right-hand side of the page.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support CPOMS FAQ It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student information.		RI	EMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard Reporting Planner Library	Admin Account Settings		Add Incident 👻 🌲 👻 LOGOUT
Admin			
Overview Settings Imports Categories Agencies Catendar Use	rs Transfers Groups Add Student Form Builder Audits		
Agency name			New agency
CAMHS		Edil Disable	
Educational Psychologist		Edit Disable	
Police		Edit Disable	
School Nurse		Edit Disable	
SENCO		Edit Disable	
Social Services		Edit Disable	
Youth Offending Team		Edit Disable	

Step 2 – Simply enter a name for the new agency and click 'Save Agency'.

On save, the agency will appear in your 'Agency Involved' list for selection when adding new incidents and actions.



18.2 Changing an agency name

If you need to amend an agency name for any reason in CPOMS, i.e. a spelling error, this can be done by an <u>Admin Key Holder</u> in school.



Please do not change the meaning/ type of an agency when updating its name, as the new agency name will be transferred to all past incidents/ actions where this agency was tagged and also applied to any students marked as involved with the agency, past and present.

To amend an agency name, please navigate to the **'Admin'** area, and click on the **'Agencies'** tab. Next, click on **'Edit'** next to the name of the agency you would like to update. Simply over-type the current agency name, with the updated one, and scroll down to **'Save Agency'**.

18.3 How to disable an agency

An <u>Admin Key Holder</u> in school can disable an agency in CPOMS. Simply navigate to the 'Admin' area, and click on the 'Agencies' tab. Click on 'Disable' next to the name of the agency you would like to remove from your agency involved list.

You may also choose to 'Enable' the agency in the future if needed.



19 Calendar

In 'Calendar' you can set your schools academic year start and end date. The dates are used to generate the number of incidents this academic year, which are displayed on your 'Reporting' > 'Overview' tab, amongst other things.

20 Users

Under **'Users'** you can add, edit and disable any existing users, and if required re-activate a previous CPOMS user account.

The Users section is all set up in the implementation stages and therefore you should not have much requirement to access it in the first instance.

There is a small shield icon $({}^{\circ})'$ to the left of each users name who has a key setup currently.

CPOMS Websile CPOMS User Guide Contact Support CPOMS FAQ REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student information.														ANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School	•	Dashboard	Reporting	Planner	Library	Admin	Account Settings				Add Incide	ent -	. -	LOGOUT
Quick User Search			Admin					_						
		2	Overview	Settings	Imports	Categor	ies Agencies	Calendar	Users	Transfers	Groups	Add St	udent	
User Groups SLT 			Users	, iddito							De	activated u	sers	New user
Teachers SLT Non-key Temp Library Only											← Previou	s 1	2 3	$Next \to$
New group			Name				Job Title	Group		1	Last Login			
	_		Wendy A	Abbott				Teachers			Never			×

20.1 How to add a new user

To add a new user to CPOMS, go to 'Admin', click on the 'Users' tab and select the 'New User' button, to the right-hand side of the screen.



Simply select the name of the member of staff you would like to add from the drop down list of users available to add. Next, input their email address and assign a user group. If you would like to send a reset password email now please also tick **'Send password reset email'** as well. Once you have filled in all of the fields click **'Create User'**.


CPOMS Websit It is your responsit	te CPOMS L bility to logout an	Jser Guid d protect th	e Contact Sup le security of studer	port CPOMS it information.	FAQ							REMIND ME	HIDE NAMES	BLA	NK SCREEN
CPOMS Pri	imary Schoo	ol 👻	Dashboard	Reporting	Planner	Library	Admin	Accou	int Settings			Add Ir	cident -	4 -	LOGOUT
Admir	n														
Overview	Settings	Imports	Categories	Agencies	Calenda	ar User	rs Trai	nsfers	Groups	Add Student	Form Builder	Audits			
New User Title															
First Name															
Last Name															
Email															
User group			SLT												¥
			Send password	d reset email											



Staff will only appear in the 'New User' drop down list if they have been added to your MIS as a permanent staff member, with a current start date and a full-time member of staff. If the user will not be added to your MIS for any reason you can also choose to 'Add Non-MIS Users' here.



Higher Level Users

If you add a new user in a higher level user group, i.e. a member of the SLT/ Safeguarding Team, they will need to **create a 'Soft Key' using the CPOMS Authenticator App**, in their own login, for the higher level permissions to take effect. For instructions, <u>click here.</u>

20.2 How to **x** deactivate a user

To deactivate a user's account in CPOMS, go to 'Admin', click on the 'Users' tab and simply click on the red 'x' icon \times at the end of the users row who you would like to remove from the system.



20.3 How to ✓ reactivate a user

Once a user is removed from CPOMS, an additional button for 'Deactivated Users' will appear to the righthand side of the Users tab (*Next to the 'New User' button*).

To reactivate a user's account in CPOMS, go to **'Admin'**, click on the **'Users'** tab and select the **'Deactivated Users'** button, to the right-hand side of the screen.



Page 73 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



Deactivated users

Here you will find a list of any users who have been deactivated in the past. Simply click on the green **'Reactivate'** button to re-add them to your system.

Q	2	Overview Form Builder	Settings Audits	Imports	Categories	Agencies	Calendar	Users	Transfers	Groups	Add Student
User Groups SLT 		Users									Active users New user
 Teachers SLT Non-key Temp Library Only 		Name	j r	Job Title	Group	ev Temp	Last L	ogin	Reactivate	E emove log	in datails
New group		<u></u>			OLT NOTING	, romp	Never		Reactivate	r emove logi	

You will then be asked to input their email address and user group, and to save click 'Confirm'.

20.4 How to change a user's email address

To change a user's email address in CPOMS, go to 'Admin', click on the 'Users' tab and select the relevant user's name whose email address you would like to update. In their 'Personal Details', simply over-type their current email address, and click 'Save details'.

20.5 How to create a new User Group

A user's permissions in CPOMS are defined by the User Group they are placed in. Therefore you can create as many groups as needed for different levels of access, i.e. you may have an SLT user group who can access all categories of incidents, whereas you may have a Teachers user group who can only access Behaviour incidents for example.

To create a new User Group in CPOMS, go to 'Admin', click on the 'Users' tab and select the 'New Group' option, to the left-hand side of the screen, underneath your list of current User Groups.

On the New User Group screen, firstly enter a **name** for the group.

Next, choose the **Category Permissions** for each of your categories and sub-categories, the permissions are:-

View Students	View Incidents	Add Incidents
This permission allows users in the group to view students 'monitored' for this category.	This permission allows users in the group to view incidents assigned to this category.	This permission allows users in the group to add new incidents to this category.



Meritec School Dashboard Reporting Planner Library Admin	Account Settings		S ♣ + LOGOUT
Overview Settings Imports Categories Agencies Users Tran	sfers Groups Add Student Custom Fields		
Edit User Group Group Information			
Name Teachers			
Category Permissions			
Category	View Students	View Incidents	Add Incidents
Behaviour	8	8	0
- Low Level Disruption	0	8	0
- Removed From Class	8	8	٥
- Report	8	0	٥
Bullying	0	0	0
- Accusation		0	8
- Cyber	0	0	0
- Homophobic	0	0	0
- Physical	8	0	0
- Racial	0	0	0
- Verbal	8	0	8
Child Protection			0
- CAF			0
- Cause for Concern			8
- Child Protection Plan			8
- CIN			8
- Early Help			8
Home Issues	0	0	0
LAC	0	•	2
Medical Issues			ø

Example Category Permissions for a Key Holder:-

Set the category permissions for this group by ticking the relevant boxes against each of your category names. If you do not want any user in this group to access any information in CPOMS, you may choose to tick the Add Incidents column only.

Next, choose the System Permissions for this group.



CPOMS System User Guide

Page 75 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3





lerite	ec School	Dashboard	Reporting	Planner	Library	Admin	Account Settings	G # *	L	одоит
Sys	tem Permis	sions								
	General									
	View student	ts list								
	View studen!	t details								
	Edit student	information.								
	Add new inc	ident/action								
	View audits									
	Edit incident	is .								
	Reporting									
	Run reports									
	Share saved	reports								

Example System Permissions for a Key Holder:-

CPOMS © 2018, CPOMS Systems Limited. v5.11.1 | View our cookie policy | y

20.6 How to change a users permissions/ User Group

Go to 'Admin' > 'Users' and click on the user's name from your list of users. In their profile, click on 'Permissions' to the left. Choose a different user group name from the User Group drop-down here, and 'Save Details'.

View stud View studer Edit student Add new inc View audits Edit inciden Reporting Share saved Administrati

Edit own user set Ø Planner Add events Add public eve 🛛 Files Add files <table-cell> Library Add files Save User Group



20.7 How to delete a User Group

It is not possible to delete a user group which is currently assigned to users in the system. In order to delete a user group you must firstly re-assign all current users in the user group to a different one.

To re-assign a staff members user group, go to **Admin > Users** and click on the user's name from your list of users. In their profile, click on **Permissions** to the left. Choose a different user group name from the User Group drop-down here and **Save Details.**

Once you have moved all users out of the group, go to **Admin > Users** and click on the User Group name to the left-hand side. There will be an option at the top of the page which says **'This User Group has no users**, **if you wish to delete it click here'**. *Please follow the on-screen steps*. If this option does not appear it means there are still users within it.

17-	
	This User Group has no users, if you wish to delete it click here



20.8 Alert Groups

Alert Groups can be created within CPOMS by an Admin Key Holder so that when any member of staff creates an incident they can select to alert groups of staff, rather than having to alert each person in turn. For example, were a school to have 3 Designated Safeguarding Leads, all 3 of them can be alerted to an incident at the same time with the click of a button.

Alert Groups need to be configured by the school from within your own version of CPOMS.

CPOMS Website CPOMS	User Guide Conta	act Support CF	POMS FAQ		demo.cp	oms.dev		¢.	REMIND ME H	DE NAMES BLANK SCREEN	C	You ca	n create	e an A	lert
It is your responsibility to logout an Meritec School Dash	d protect the security of board Reporting	student information	Lio ¹ iry Adr	nin Account Se	tings					LOGOUT		Group	within yo	our sys	tem
Quick User Search		A	dmin									by acce	essing th	ie 'Adr	nin'
	Q	0	verview Sett	ings Imports	Categories	Ago 2 of 1	Jsers ransfers	Groups A	ldd Student			area,	'Users'	tab,	and
User Groups		U	sers		Job Title		Group		Last Lonin	New user		within	'Alert	Gro	ups'
SLT Teachers			Wendy Abbott		000 1100		Teachers		Never	×		select [•]	New Ale	ert Gro	up'.
 SLT Non-key Temp 		_	Tim Bartell				SLT Non-key Terr	1p	Never	×					
 New group 			Henry Benton				SLT Non-key Terr	ηp	Never	×					
			Elizabeth Bes				SLT Non-key Terr	1p	Never	×					
Alert Groups		· ·	Selene Bramn	hah			SLT		Never	×					
SLT			Mike Campbe	!			SLT		Nover	×					
Teachers			Helen Casper				SLT Non-key Terr	ıp	Never	×					
3 New Alert Group			Suzanne Cleg	9			SLT		Never	×					
		`	Yvonne Clegg				SLT		Never	×					
		· `	Vanessa Crav	en			SLT		Never	×					
			Jenny Doyle				Teachers		Never	×					
			Chris Forrest		Assistant H	ead	SLT		Wed 15 Feb 2017	×					
		`	Rebecca Form	<u>ist</u>			SLT		Never	×					
			Robyn Jacobs	on			Teachers		Never	×					
											6				
					demo.cpcms.dev			0		<u> </u>	C	Firstly	enter	vour i	new
CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide It is your responsibility to logout and protect the s	Contact Support ecurity of student infor	t CPOMS FAC mation.	2						REMIND ME HIDI	E NAMES BLANK SCHEEN			~		
Meritec School Dashboard F	leporting Plann	ner Library	Admin A	ccount Settings						LOGOUT		Alert 0	sroup i	vame	ı.e.
												SIT DS	l's		
Admin												521, 05	L J.		
Overview Settings Imports	Categories	Agencies	Users Tran	sfers Groups	Add Student	:					C	Next, u	se the a	rrow(s	s) to
New Alert Group												move	acro	SS	the
Group Information												membe	ers of sta	ff that	vou
Name	DSL's											include			,00
User Selection												require	to be in	ו the A	lert
These users will not be in this alert	group				The	se users will be	in this alert group					Group	ta tha h	ov on	tho
Filter by group name or group type			\sim		Filte	r by group name	e or group type					Group			the
++		(+			++		right. \	'ou can	also t	ype
Edward Ryan (SLT Non-key Temp) Christina Smith (SLT Non-key Temp) Wendy Abbott (Teachers) Damaris Nader (Teachers)		(\bigcirc		Lau Ann Suz	a Wild (SLT) a Scott (SLT) anne Clegg (SL'	T)					the nar	nes of U	ser Gro	oups
Tony Wild (SLT) John Wild (SLT) Mike Campbell (SLT)												within	the sear	ch bar,	e.g.
Sophie Wilkinson (SLT)												Teache	rs ta	n m	
Rebecca Forrest (SLT) Yvonne Clegg (SLT)												- cuciic		· …	
Danielle Reay (SLT) Vanessa Craven (SLT)												multipl	e memb	ers of s	staff
Selene Brammah (SLT) Chris Forrest (SLT)												ot once	ucing +	ha da	ubla
Save Alert Group													using t	ne uot	anie

- nter your new oup Name i.e.
- the arrow(s) to across the of staff that you be in the Alert the box on the u can also type s of User Groups search bar, e.g. to move nembers of staff sing the double arrow.

Click 'Save Alert Group'.

When a member of staff adds an incident to CPOMS, they will now be able to select an Alert Group as per the screen below.

Alert Staff Members	Begir	n typing a sta	aff memb	ers name						
	SLT	Teachers	DSL							
	Type a colleague's name or select an alert group to alert them to this incide									



20.9 Users Profile

Under **Users**, you can access and amend each user's profile by clicking on their name from your list of users. Here you can choose to amend the users email address *(under 'Personal Details')*, or User Group *(within 'Permissions' to the left)*.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide (It is your responsibility to logout and protect the se	Contact Support CPOMS FAQ curity of student information.		REMIND ME HID	E NAMES BL	ANK SCREEN
CPOMS School Dashboard Re	eporting Planner Library Ac	imin Account Settings		A •	LOGOUT
Admin					
Overview Settings Imports	Categories Agencies Users	Transfers Groups Add Student Custom Fields			
		Suzanne Clegg's settings			_
Personal details	Title	Miss			
Permissions	First Name				
Alerts		Suzanne			
Audits	Last Name	Clogg			
Security log	Email Address	suzanne.clegg@cpoms.co.uk			
	Job Title				
		L			
		Save details			
					_
		CPOMS © 2018, CPOMS Systems Limited. v5.11.1 View our cookie policy 💓			

Within each individuals profile, under 'Alerts' you can also assign user specific alerts (automatic alerts) by:-Category, Student, or Student Group.

For example, if you want to make sure that every time a 'Child Protection' incident is added to the system you are alerted automatically - this can be done here by ticking the relevant category and save.

You can also choose to clear a user's dashboard alerts here. Next to 'Clear user's dashboard alerts' enter the dates you would like to remove the alerts between and click the 'Remove dashboard alerts' button.

Please note, this will remove all of the user's dashboard alerts within the input timeframe so should only be selected if you are happy that they have been dealt with.



CPOMS Website CPC It is your responsibility to log	DMS User Guide	Contact Su	pport CP0	OMS FAQ			REMIND ME HIDE N	AMES	BLAN	IK SCREEN
CPOMS School	Dashboard	Reporting	Planner	Library	Admin	Account Setting			4 •	LOGOUT
Admin Overview Setting	gs Imports	Categorie	s Agenc	cies Us	ers Tri	ansfers Group	Add Studient Custom Fields Sizame Cheg's settings			
Personal details Permissions Alerts Audits Security log		Alert G Clear u Catego Studen	roups seer's dasht vries tts)	Suza Suza Be Suza Be Suza	nne will be a ment move dashboard a move dashboard a http://www.commons.common http://www.commons.commo commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.common commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons.commons	of the following alert groups. get alerts for incidents added to the following categories. Child Protection Home issues LAC Medical issues Prevent SEND get alerts for incidents added to the following students. Iname to search Circup Remove get alerts tor incidents added to the students in these groups.			
					Sat	ve alert preference CPOMS © 201	CPOMS Systems Limited. v5.11.1 Vew our cockle policy 💓			

Under **Audits** you can check out every click of a button for the user in question.

Lastly in **Security log** you can see the number of times the user has logged in using two factor authentication and the IP location.



21 Transfers

21.1 The Transfer Process

If both the previous and new school use CPOMS, once the student(s) officially leave/ move school and their UPN is added **identically** at both schools (within the MIS), the transfer between CPOMS will be detected automatically. (Assuming the student has incidents logged against them)

Once detected, the new school will receive a notification to **'Request'** the transfer at their side, within their 'Admin' area > 'Transfers' tab.

On request, the previous school will receive a similar notification, this time to 'Authorise' the transfer at their side, again within the 'Admin' area > 'Transfers' tab.





Before you authorise any Transfers for students leaving your school, please make sure you have double checked your '**Manage Preferences**', within the CPOMS 'Admin' area > '**Transfers**' tab.

By default, categories will not be selected, therefore it is imperative that you choose which categories of incidents/ actions you wish to transfer to the new school.

Once the previous school clicks to authorise, the new school will receive the student's incident history, and any attached documentation/ files within their document vault.

21.2 Transfer Preferences





Each school must apply their own preferences so that only certain categories are transferred. This can be set by a CPOMS <u>Admin Key Holder</u> within the schools 'Admin' area > 'Transfers' tab, by clicking on the 'Manage Preferences' button (to the right-hand side of the screen). Simply tick the categories that you would like to transfer, and choose to 'Update Preferences'. Please be aware, when you add new categories to the system you will need to check and update your transfer 'Manage Preferences' to include the new category(s) in future transfers should you wish to.



If you do not tick any categories within your 'Manage Preferences' section, and click to authorise a transfer in CPOMS, the receiving school will not receive any incidents relating to the student.

Once a transfer has been sent/ authorised it <u>cannot be re-tracted or re-sent.</u>

21.3 What information is transferred via CPOMS?

Once a transfer has been requested by the student's new school and authorised by their previous school, the student's incident history, plus any files/ documentation within their document vault will be sent across to the new school CPOMS. This will be the incidents assigned to the schools chosen categories in their own 'Manage Preferences'.

Any linked student names, to the left of the incident text, will be hidden.

The name of the staff member who logged the incident, to the left of the incident text, will change to the previous schools name (who authorised the transfer).

The incident text will send on (transfer) exactly as it is written.

Before authorising a transfer, we would always suggest that you double check the students 'Incidents' tab and document vault to ensure that all required names are removed from the text. If you do then find a name that you need to alter you can choose to 'Edit' the text of the incident to use initials for any names, or use a different term such as mum/ dad/ brother/ sister, for example. If this is required by your in school procedures.

Once you are happy with the incident text and documentation you may click to authorise the transfer.

21.4 How to access the transfer information

Once the transfer status changes to 'Transferred', the new school will receive the student's transfer information.

The schools/ student's previous incident categories are brought across to CPOMS also, under a main category of 'Legacy', with sub-categories of the previous school's category names.

The Legacy categories are automatically deactivated, and the permissions are set to blank, to ensure that no new incidents can be logged against them and that only the correct level of staff at the new school can access the transferred information.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 82 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



Therefore in order to gain access to the transferred information, a CPOMS <u>Admin Key Holder</u> needs to set the permissions for each Legacy category, and any sub-categories within the 'Admin' area > 'Users' tab, by clicking into the top level User Group name, *i.e.* SLT, to the left-hand side of this page.

CPOMS Website Cl It is your responsibility to	POMS User Guid logout and protect	le Contact S the security of st	upport Cl	POMS FAQ tion.						REMIND ME	HIDE NAMES BL	ANK SCREEN
CPOMS School	Dashboard	Reporting	Planner	Library	Admin	Account Settings					5 🔺 -	LOGOUT
Quick User Searc	h			Adr	nin							
		Q		Overv	iew Set	tings Imports	Categories Agencies Use	rs Transfers	Groups Add Student	Custom Fields		
User Groups				User	s							New user
. SIT				Nam	0 -		Job Title	G	Group	Last Login		
Teachers Support Staff				3	Vendy Abbo	tt.		Te	eachers	Never		×
- Support Stall				1	Tim Bartell			S	Support Staff	Never		×
 rvow group 				1	ienry Bento	n		S	Support Staff	Never		×
_				1	lizabeth Be	st		S	Support Staff	Never		×

Within the User Group **'Category Permissions'** please tick **'View Students'** and **'View Incidents'** against each Legacy category, and any sub-categories, ensuring you **'Save Group'** once ticked.

Please leave the 'Add Incidents' column un-ticked so no new incidents can be logged against them. (See below screenshot)

POMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of	Support CPOMS FAQ student information.		REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
POMS School Dashboard Reporting	Planner Library Admin Account Settings		
Admin			
NOT THE REAL PROPERTY OF THE R			
Overview Settings Imports Categor	ories Agencies Users Transfers Groups A	dd Student Custom Fields	
Edit User Group			
Group Information			
Name	J		
Category Permissions			
Category	View Students	View Incidents Add	Incidents
Behaviour		Ø	
- Low Level Disruption	•	a a	
- Removed From Class		0	
- Report	•	0 0	
Bullying	8	0 0	
- Accusation		0	
- Cyber		0	
- Homophobic	8	8 8	
- Physical	8	8 8	
- Racial	8	8 8	
- Verbal	8	8 8	
Child Protection	8	8 8	
- CAF		0	
- Cause for Concern		0 0	
- Child Protection Plan		0 0	
- CIN	8	8 8	
- Early Help	8	0	
Home Issues	8	8 8	
LAC		2	
Legacy	8		
- Child Protection	8		
- Home Issues	8		
- Medical	8	a	
Modical losuce	8	• •	
— Asthma	0	8	





Once the category permissions have been switched on, the transferred information will appear within the students profile > 'Incidents' tab in date order, and any files within their 'Document Vault' tab.

21.5 A transfer is not showing for me to request/ authorise?

For a transfer to be detected in CPOMS:-

- The student(s) in question must be marked as left/ archived in the previous schools MIS/ CPOMS System
- The start date set in the new schools MIS must be reached (not a future date)
- Both schools must have matching UPNs input in both MISs
- Temporary UPNs can not be used (Temporary UPNs usually end in a letter)
- The MIS imports at both schools must also be up to date, and running successfully
- The previous establishment must have incidents and/or documents related to the student in their CPOMS.

Please note, the new school must firstly request the transfer to start the process.

21.6 Transfer Status

When a transfer appears within the Admin > Transfers section, it will have a 'Status' so you can easily see which stage it is at in the transfer process:-

Status	Definition
Donding	The transfer has been detected on both schools CPOMS systems.
Pending	Ready for 'New' ('Incoming') school to click 'Request'.
Requested	Awaiting 'Previous' ('Outgoing') school to click 'Authorise'.
Transferred	The transfer has been requested and authorised by both schools, and the information has been transferred to the 'New' schools CPOMS system.
	Please see '<u>How to access the transfer information</u>' if you are unsure how to view it.
Dismissed	'New' school does not want to receive the transfer information. This may be because the child did not eventually go to that school.
Obsolete	The student is archived on both 'Previous' and 'New' schools CPOMS system. No action available.



21.7 Transfer Direction

Each transfer will also have a 'Direction':-

Direction	Definition
Incoming	The school with the direction 'Incoming' will receive the transfer information. They are the child's 'New' school.
Outgoing	The school with the direction 'Outgoing' will transfer their CPOMS information, for that student, to the 'New' school. They are the child's 'Previous' school.

21.8 The new school does not use CPOMS?

If a student's new school does not use CPOMS, you can run a full student report in CPOMS, and either print a hard copy, or send on electronically.

Please see below instructions to run a full student report:-

- C Access the student's profile via their class list, or using the 'Quick Student Search' option and click on their name, into their profile.
- Within the student's profile, click on the **'Student Report'** tab.
- © Under **'Include in report'** tick to include **'Incidents'** in addition.
- In the additional 'Filter Incident' options that now appear, you may wish to tick <u>'Include Linked</u> <u>Incidents'</u> to ensure you receive any incidents the student has been linked in to also. You may also wish to choose to Hide Student and/ or Staff Names in the report.
- © For all records please ignore the further filter options, <u>or</u> you may apply specific dates or select certain categories within the 'Filter incidents' options.
- © Scroll down to the 'Report format' and amend this to 'PDF (print view)'.
- If required enter a 'PDF password' to password protect the report, and 'Generate Report'.

This will then generate a PDF copy of the student's incidents which you can then print or save electronically.

How do I download the student's documents/ files?

Once you have run the student report, you may wish to download the student's documents/ files as well.

To do this, access the student's profile via their class list, or using the 'Quick Student Search' option and click on their name. Within their profile, click on the **'Document Vault'** tab.

To download all, click on the very top tick box (In between the titles 'Date' and 'ID') which will select all, or if you do not wish to download all simply tick the documents you require one by one. A new button for **'Actions'** will now appear to the right-hand side of the screen. Click on this option and **'Download selected'**.



verview Inciden	ts Con	ntact Details	Document Vault	Student Report	Audit Report	Monitoring History			
ocument Vault Date		ID	File				Uploaded By	Actions + Alert users	New document
19/07/2022		36	Attendance_Letter_202	22.docx			Suzanne Maxfield	Coptions -	
19/07/2022	<	37	Report.docx				Suzanne Maxfield	✿ Options -	
19/07/2022	2	38	Learning_Plan_2022.d	осх			Suzanne Maxfield	© <u>Options</u> -	

This will create a zip file containing all of the selected documents. The zip file usually appears to the bottom left of your internet browser for quick access and is usually saved in the 'Downloads' folder of the machine you are on (depending on your individual machine settings).

cpoms_documentszip ^
 l

Please note, if the student has multiple pages of documents, you will need to follow the above instructions on each individual page.

Hiding Names in a Student Report

When you are running the report, in the 'Incident Filters' you will find the option to 'Hide' either Student Names or Staff Names (or both).

When you select to hide Student Names, you can choose to hide 'All' names, or 'Just Linked' names only. If you choose to hide 'All' names, the name of the student whom the report is written about will be hidden, as well as any linked students. If you choose to hide 'Just Linked' names, the name of the student whom the report is written about will not be hidden.

Please note, the system is only able to hide the first name, surname (or both) of the student for whom the report is written and any other students who are linked into the incident, as long as it is spelt identically to how it is registered in your MIS. It will <u>not</u> hide shortened/mis-spelled versions of the names if used, or the names of any other students who are not linked into the incident. These Student Names are hidden within the incident/action text.

When you select to hide Staff Names, the name of the staff member who wrote the report will be hidden to the left-hand side of each incident, as well as the name of the staff member it is 'Assigned to'.

We would always suggest that before you print out a report, that you first run it in the report format 'Enquiry View' to check that all the required names are removed from the text. Once you are happy with it, you can then run it as a 'PDF (Print View)'. If you then find a name in a report that you wish to hide, you can either link in the required student(s) or edit the text of the incident/ action to use initials instead, for any names that cannot be linked, and re-run the report. If this is required by your in-school procedures.

If there is a particular name or initials you wish to redact from a report as a one off, you can enter this in the 'Redact words or phrases' option before generating the report, which will redact it from the report you



are generating. Simply type in the name/ initials and select it to add, you may add more than one word/ phrase.

22 Groups

Within the **Groups** section, you can manage and update your key users class restrictions, if required.

This is handy to allow a class teacher to see their class only, or perhaps a Head of Year to access their year group information. You can also choose to restrict the categories these staff can access by the user group that they are placed in.

If you wish to restrict access by a group, simply tick the check box to **'Restrict Access'** by either Tutor Groups or Year Groups (*the group options will vary depending on the class structure in your MIS*).

N.B If class permissions are not setup, every key holder in school will have access to all classes.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide It is your responsibility to logout and protect the	Contact Support CPOMS FAQ e security of student information.				REMIND ME	HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS School Dashboard	Reporting Planner Library Admin Account	t Settings				🔺 – Logout
Admin						
Overview Settings Imports	Categories Agencies Users Transfers	Groups Add Student	Custom Fields			
Groups Tutor Groups Subject Groups Restrict access?						New Group
Name	Туре	New	MIS ID	Edit	Remove	
RA	Tutor Group	No	12345	Edit		
RB	Tutor Group	No	12346	Edit		
1A	Tutor Group	No	17704	Edit		
18	Tutor Group	No	17703	Edit		
2A	Tutor Group	No	17702	Edit		
2B	Tutor Group	No	17701	Edit		
3A	Tutor Group	No	17699	Edit		
3B	Tutor Group	No	17700	Edit		
4A	Tutor Group	No	17697	Edit		
4B	Tutor Group	No	17698	Edit		
5A	Tutor Group	No	17696	Edit		
5B	Tutor Group	No	17705	Edit		
6A	Tutor Group	No	17723	Edit		
6B	Tutor Group	No	17765	Edit		

Once the class restriction setting has been switched on, you will then see an additional option to 'Edit' next to each of your group names. Simply click **'Edit'** next to each of the classes and select the staff members, or user groups, that you would like to be able to access that class.

You can do this in a variety of ways using our dual list boxes. In the boxes on the left hand side you will see a list of all staff members registered on CPOMS.

If you are happy for all staff to access that particular class select the double arrow button straight away, which will move the staff names to the right-hand box entitled 'These users will be able to see students in this class'.



If you only wish for particular members of staff to access the class you can select specific names from the list and click the single arrow to move them to the right-hand side.

You can also filter the list down by name, or user group, by simply typing in the 'Filter by name or user group' field and then moving the relevant staff names across.

POMS SCROOI Dastrooard Reporting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	↓ - LOGO
dmin	
Overview Settings Imports Categories Agencies Users Transfers Groups Add Student Custor	im Fields
1A (Tutor Group) Users These users will not be able to see students in this class. Sowing all 22 Fifter by name or user_proup Wendy Abbott (Nachors) Wendy Abbott (Nachors) Bitter by name or user_proup Wendy Abbott (Nachors) Bitter by name or user_proup Wendy Abbott (Nachors) Honry Botter (SLT Non-key Temp) Bitter by name (SLT Non-key Temp) Heart Decore (SLT) Medic Campoid (SLT) Network (SLT) Rebecca Forrest (SLT) Robocca Forrest (SLT) Bornik Akris (Teachers) Chine (Teachers) Damark Nater (Teachers) Zakia Less (Teachers)	These users w/l/ be able to see students in this class. Stowing all 6 Filter by name or user group

Once you have made your choices select 'Save Group' and repeat the process for all other classes. If these permissions change at any point you can always re-edit them.

N.B If you do have class permissions set up within CPOMS, any admin user will see a notice at the top of their dashboard whenever a new class has appeared in the import. The Summer MIS class promotion will likely affect key users if class permissions are turned on. In order to access pupil information, you will need to re-assign correct access levels to any new classes at the start of term.

If preferred, you can also amend class permissions within each individual users profile, within the **'Admin'** area, **'Users'** tab by clicking on the users name and selecting the **'Permissions'** section to the left-hand side.



23 Maps

Within CPOMS you can add additional **'Maps'** of your own, which you can then place markers on when completing the 'Add Incident' form.

If you would prefer to use a different body map to our default one, you can add your own here.

You may wish to add additional maps which focus on a particular part of the body e.g. face, hand, foot to allow you to apply more accurate marker points to the image or a map of the school building to show where abouts an incident took place for example.

A CPOMS <u>Admin Key Holder</u> can add additional maps via 'Admin' > 'Maps' by clicking on the 'New Map' button.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support CPOMS FAQ It is your responsibility to logast and protect the security of student information.	REMIND ME H	IDE NAMES	BLAM	NK SCREEN
CPOMS Learning Trust - Dashboard Reporting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	Add Incide	nt -	.	LOGOUT
Admin — Custom maps				
Overview Settings Imports Categories Agencies Catendar Users Transfers Groups Maps Add Student Form Builder Aud/ts Integrations				
Custom Maps Use this area to add custom maps to tag on incidents.			Ne	ew Map
Title Size Uploaded				
System Bodymap bystem Mex	Disable			

Next, click on **'Choose File'** and locate the map image on your machine. *Please note, only jpeg. or png. file types will be accepted.* Once chosen, enter a **'Title'** for the map (*The title will appear on the Add Incident form alongside the map image*).

When you are ready click 'Upload Map'.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact S It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of stu	support CPONIS FAQ whort information	REMIND ME	HIDE NAM	ÆS	BLANK S	SCREEN
CPOMS Learning Trust - Dashboard	Reporting Flanner Library Admin Account Settings	Add In	cident •	•	• L	OGOUT
Admin — Upload Ma	q					
Overview Settings Imports Categori	es Agencies Calendar Users Transfers Groups Maps Add Student Form Builder Audits Integrations					
Мар	Choose file Face png					
Title	Face					
	Upicad Map					
						- 1

Once uploaded the map will appear for use by all staff, within the 'Add Incident' form.

If you would like to replace the default body map image with your own, simply delete/disable the default body map within **'Admin'** > **'Maps'** by clicking on the **'Delete/ Disable'** option at the end of its row and upload your replacement body map, as instructed above.



24 Form Builder

Custom Fields can be added to CPOMS by a CPOMS Admin Key Holder to your:- Incident, Action and Student forms.

This may be an additional drop-down list for the 'Location' of an incident i.e. Playground, Classroom, Toilets, Out of School, or a free text box to add a 'Summary' of an incident or action taken.

Using the Form Builder, you can also adjust the order of the form itself, and add additional 'Advice Messages' for staff i.e. 'Please include as much information as possible' for example.

24.1 Amend a form

Step 1: To amend the order of a form, or create a new custom field please navigate to the **'Admin'** area > **'Form Builder'** tab and click **'Edit'** next to the name of the form you would like to amend/ add to.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide It is your responsibility to logout and protect the	Contact Support CPOMS security of student information.	S FAQ			REMIND ME HIDE	NAMES	BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School +	Dashboard Reporting	Planner Library	Admin	Account Settings	Add Incident	- 4	LOGOUT
Admin							
Overview Settings Imports	Categories Agencies	Calendar Use	rs Tran	sfers Groups Add Student Form Builder Audits			
Form name	Description			Updated at		\sim	
Incident form	Incident custom	form builder		2020-09-29 09:51		Edit)
Action form	Action custom fo	rm builder		2019-05-31 01:50		Edit	
Student form	Student custom	form builder		2019-05-31 01:50		Edit	

Here you can now drag and drop the form fields into your preferred order.

If you click on the pencil icon beneath any field you can add an additional 'Advice Message' for staff, i.e.

- Ple
 - Please use initials for any students not linked into this incident.
 - Please always alert the 'SLT' team for Safeguarding incidents.



our responsibility to logout and pre	r Guide Contact Sup otect the security of stude	port CPOMS nt information.	FAQ							REMIND ME	HIDE NA	MES BL	ANK SCREEN
OMS Primary School	 Dashboard 	Reporting	Planner	Library	Admin Ad	count Settings				Add I	ncident	- 4-	LOGOUT
dmin													
vervlew Settings Im	ports Categories	Agencles	Calendar	Users	Transfers	Groups	Add Student	Form Builder	Audits				
ame	Incident fo	rm											
escription	Incident cu	istom form build	ler										
Custom Fields													
incident													
	Please use	full first names a	as displayed i)								A
Categories	Home Is: Contact	sues 🗌 Behar with External Ag	viour 🗌 Me gency 🗌 Co	dical Issues mmunicatio	SEND (Bullying	Child Protection Team Teach Incid	Prevent S dent Verbal &	afeguarding Ch Aggressive Incidents	ild Contact	ental Contac	ot e	
	Bullying/	Friendship Rela	ated Issues										

To add an additional Custom Field to the form, scroll down to the bottom of the page and click 'New custom field' (to the right-hand side).

+	New	custom	field

Step 2: Complete the 'New Custom Field' form

Custom Field Form		×
Name		
Categories		
Kind		
Dropdown		~
Enforce an option is chosen?		
Allow multiple options to be selected?		
Advice message		
Options		
Add another option		
	Close Save cust	om field

- Firstly enter the 'Name' of your new custom field
- Under 'Categories' you can choose which types of incidents you would like this field to appear for, *i.e.*



Medical, Behaviour only. The field will then appear once this category(s) is chosen on the new incident/ action form. *Please leave this field blank if you would like the custom field to appear for all incident types.*

- Next choose the 'Kind' of custom field from the available options, which are:-
 - Dropdown to create a dropdown list of pre-set options to choose from *Example, dropdown list of Location of an incident/ action*
 - Text to add an additional line for free text Example, to enter a Social Worker name on a student's overview
 - Multiline text to add an additional text box for more free text Example, free text box for a summary of incident/ action
 - Date to add an additional date field Example, to enter the date of the next review meeting
 - Date/Time to add an additional date and time field Example, to input the date and time the incident/ action took place
- If you choose Dropdown you will have the following additional check boxes:-
 - Enforce an option is chosen?
 - Allow multiple options to be selected?
- For Dropdown only enter your 'Options' next these will be the items you would like to display in your dropdown list.
 - You can add further options by clicking **'+ Add another option'.**
- For all new custom fields, you can also add an **'Advice message'** for staff to read. This helps to ensure the field is completed correctly. *The advice message will appear directly below the field on the chosen form.*
- Once you have completed the form click 'Save Custom Field'.

Step 3: Once you choose to 'Update Custom form' the custom field is created and it will appear within the chosen form for staff to see/ select.

Update Custom form

Example custom field

Agency Involved	Select Agencies	
Add to planner		
Summary of incident (custom field)		
Location (custom field)	•	
	Playground	ł
	Sports Hall	
	Classroom	
	Toilets	
CPO	Out of school	Ļ

If added to the Student Form, the field will be available to use within each students profile > 'Overview' tab, by clicking the 'Edit Information' button.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 92 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



Verview								Edit informa
Conder Eomaio	Date of Arrival	09/02/2009	٥	dmission Data	09/02/2009	DOR	Acco)	01/01/2019 (10)
Jender Pennale	bate of Arrival	09/03/2009			09/03/2009	DOB	Agej	01/01/2008 (10)
-,-,								
tom Fields								
	Father cannot collect.							
ts								
ted staff members will receive an	alert every time an incident is added a	about this student.						
Staff Members	Banin tuning a staff member's name							
	Degin typing a stan member's name	the slert list						
	Type a colleague's name to add them to	o the alert list.						
(Update Student							
US School Duration Duration								
MS School Dashboard Reportin	ng Planner Library Admin Account S	Settings						
MS School Dashboard Reports	ng Planner Library Admin Account S Hannah Gru	^{setings} eenwood (1	B)					≜ + L
MS School Dashboard Reports s	ng Planner Library Admin Account S Hannah Gro	settings eenwood (1	B)	anne Ethiotest General	Audit Descet - Manshee			≜ ≁ L
MS School Dashboard Reports s g - Matthew Greenwood (S8) • • tr - Leke Adams (1A) • •	ng Planner Likrary Admin Account S Hannah Gru Overview Incidents	eenwood (1 Contact Details Docu	B) ment Vault Attendo	ance Student Report	Audit Report Monton	ng History		
MS School Dashboard Reports 5 g - Matthéw Greenwood (58) • • n - Luke Adams (14) • •	ng Planner Library Admin Accounts Hannah Gru Uverview Incodents Overview	Settings eenwood (1 Contact Detaits Docu	B) ment Vault Attendo	ance Student Report	Audt Report Montoni	ng History		& + L Edžietomu
MS School Dashboard Reports g g - Matthew Greenwood (50) ● ● n - Lulie Adams (1A) ● ●	ng Planner Library Admin Account Hannnah Gru Overview incolens Overview incolens	Sentings eenwood (1 contact Details Docu Female	B) ment Vault Attenda	ance Student Report	Audit Report Monitori Admission Date	ng History 09/03/2009	DOB (Age)	▲ + L Edil informa 01:01/2008 (10)
MS School Desitioner Reports	ng Parwer Library Adma Account Hannah Gru Overview incounts Overview incounts Geneer Categories	Retings eenwood (1 contact Details Docu Pemale Cotal Princeton	B) ment Vasit Attend Date of Armval Renne (Parenting Jacks)	ance Student Report 09/03/2009 (Text All) Cause for Conce	Audt Report Monton Admission Date	ng History 09/03/2009	DOB (Åge)	Edit information (10)
MS School Dashboard Reports	ng Pareer Library Admit Account of Hannah Gru Overview Rodens Overview Rodens Overview Rodens Gender Categories Kayneres	Retings eenwood (1 contact Details Docu Female COuld Prefection	B) ment Vault Attendi Date of Armval (Rome / Primiting patients	ance Student Report 99/03/2009 (Feet Aug.) (Cause for Conce	Audt Report Monton	ng History 09/05/2009	DOB (Age)	€dt advms 01/01/2008 (10)
MS School Dashboard Reports g - Matthew Greenwood (18) ● ● n - Lake Adams (14) ● ●	ng Planer Library Admin Accounts	Settings eenwood (1 contact Details Docu Pernale Cold Protocolo Bocial Services	B) ment Vaut Attendo Date of Arrival	ance Student Report 09/03/2009 (FREAM) Cause for Conce	Audt Report Monton Admission Date	ng History 09/05/2009	DOB (Age)	Edit information
4S School ()astilouard Reports - Latthew Greenwood (20) ● ● - Lake Adams (14) ● ●	ng Planne Library Ahna Accounts Hannah Gru Overview inclems Overview inclems Overview inclems Gander Categories Kirgwords Special Needs	Setings eenwood (1 contact Detais Docu Penate Chal Frances Bocial Services	B) ment Vault : Attendi Date of Arrival	ance Student Report 09/02/2009 (Intelle) Gave In Conce	Audt Report Monton	ng History 09/03/2009	DOB (Age)	Edit Information
AS School Quathourd Reports	g Paner Library Ahn Account Hannah Gra Overview Bodens Overview Bodens Overview Bodens Coverview	Seenge eenwood (1 Contact Detais Door Permar Cold Protection Boccil Services	B) ment Vaut Atendo Date of Arrival (term / Journey Tages)	ance Student Report 09/03/2009	Audit Report Monitore Admission Date	ng History 09/03/2009	DOB (Age)	Eit eleme Oronzade (10)
4S School Daskboard Reports	g Parer Library Ann Account Hannah Gru Overview Indensi Gender Citigerins Raywords Agencies Special Reeds Medical Conditions	Seeings eenwood (1 contact Details Docu Fernale Cold Please Social Services 12249	B) ment Vaut Attends	ance Student Report 09/03/05/9 (FINIAL) Clave for Deny	Audt Repert Monton Admission Date	09403/2009	DOB (Age)	Est islams
IS School Dasteard Reports	9 Perever Library Arima Accounts	Serror. Contact Detas Docu Pernar Bocial Services	B) ment Vaut : Attend Date of Artival	ance Student Report	Audt Report Monitorn Admission Date Admission Number Admission Number Admission Date	09403-2009	DOB (Age)	▲ • L Editations 01012009 (17)
AS School Daatkourd Reports	9 Paner Llory Ann Accord	Serroy. Contact Detas Decu Prenar Contact Detas Decu Prenar Social Services	B) ment Vaust Attendo	ance Student Report	Audit Report Moneon Admission Date Admission Date Admission Number Admission Date Pupi Premium	ng History 09/03/2009 007/822 09/03/2009 Yes	DOB (Age)	Etit information (1)(0)(2008 (10)
AS School Daatkourd Reports	ag Parere Library Ahna Account of Hannah Gra Overview inclement Overview inclement Overview inclement Gandar Categories Special Needs Medical Conditions Unique Jarmiter Date of Armal Mis in @	Seeroy. Contact Details Docu Fernare Boccal Services 12249 19903.20009 12249 No	B) ment Vault Attends	ance Student Report 09/03/0500 (1997/06) Class for Center	Audit Report Monstorn Admission Date Admission Date Admission Number Admission Number Pupip Permium Free School Meals	ng History 09:03:2009 09:03:2009 09:03:2009 Vies No	DOB (Age)	Ett erkons (storts2006 (10)
AS School () (asthourd Report) - Matthew (Direnwood (50) ●● Like Adams (1A) ● ●	ag Parere Library Anna Account Hannah Gru Uverview Rodens Overview Rodens Overview Rodens Overview Rodens Overview Rodens Overview Rodens Overview Rodens Gancer Gancer Gancer Gancer Special Needs Medical Constitute Date of Arrival Hater Group	Serrice Corriad Details Door Person Corriad Details Door Person Corriad Details Door Corriad	B) meet Vaut Attend Date of Arrival Terms / Farming Status	once Bludent Report	Audt Repert Monton Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Pupi Premium Pres Snot Mats Ettenaty	ng History 09/03/2009 00/05/2009 09/03/2009 Vites No Vonte - Dittory	DOB (Age)	Est islam: 01912000 (19)
AS School Daatkourd Reports	ang Person Library Anna Accounts Hannah Gru University Indexes Grandar Catagarnis Special Needs Medial Conditions Special Needs Medial Conditions Mis to 0 In that Gray Religion	Serrique Contect Details Docu Permar Contect Details Docu Permar Contect Details Docu Permar Contect Details Docu Permar Boccal Services Roccal Services 12249 1903-2000 1932 1934 1935 1935 1935 1935 1935 1935 1935 1935	B) ment Vauit Attendo Date of Artival (Nem (Lowers) 1999)	ance Student Report	Audit Report Monitory Admission Date Admission Date Admission Number Admission Date Admission Date PupiP Permin Free School Meals Ethnelaty Prixt Linguage	ng History 09/03/2009 09/03/2009 09/03/2009 09/03/2009 09/03/2009 19/03/200 19/	DOB (Age)	€ • L Editations 01012009 (17)
4\$ School (tabloard Report - Like Adams (14) ● ●	ang Parawe Library Anna Accounts Hannah Gru Verview Determin Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Special Needs Medical Constitions Marketal Constitio	Serror Contact Detas Docu Format Contact Detas Docu Contact Detas Docu Contact Detas Docu Contact Detas Docu Social Services Social Services 12249 12249 12249 12349 10 10 10 Contasta No No	B) meet Vaust Attends	ance Student Report	Aust Report Monton Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Pupi Premium Pres Editionalis Ethinicity Prest Language Set Statura	09403/2009 09403/2009 0002/2009 Ves No Ves Englah No Specal Educato	DOB (Age)	▲ • L Eld #kms 0101/2008 (10)
48 School (tastiouerd Report - Latthew Greenwood (50)	Pare Litrary Alma Accord 1 Hannah Gru Uverview Interna Overview Interna Interna Interna	Serrery. Contact Detas. Permare Contact Detas. Permare Contact Detas. Permare Secretaria Secre	B) meet Vaut Attends	ance Student Report	Audit Report Monitori Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Papil Premium Pres School Mails Ethnichy Pres Language SEN Status Ethnichy Ethnichy Consert	ng History derota2009 001022009 000022009 000022009 Ves No No No Security No No Security No	DOB (Age)	Etit informations (19)
AS School () (astikuerd Report Lake Adama (1/4) • • •	ang Parene Library Ahma Accounts Hannah Gru Overview Decem- Overview Decem- Overview Decem- Overview Decem- Overview Decem- Conseguries Special Nieso S Mistico O In LEA Care Tutor Group In LEA Care Tutor Group English Ad Additional Lisngian English Ad Additional Lisngian English Ad Additional Lisngian	Series Coriad Details Coriad Details Coriad Details Coriad Details Coriad Details Coriad Details Coriad Corial Coriad Cor	B) meet Vault Attends Date of Arrival (three) Period Laute	ance Student Report	Audit Repert Monitori Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Pupi Premium Pres School Malt Etheology Prist Status Etheology Prespinat	ng Hastory 09/03/2009 00/1022 00/1022 00/03/2009 Yes No Votate - Drawn Engin No Votate - Drawn Engin No No No	DOB (Age)	Est islam: 01012000 (19)
AS School (tastiourd Report - Matthew Girenwood (til) • • - Lake Adams (th) • •	A Preser Litary Ann Accord A A	Serior. Coriad Details Coriad Details Coriad Details Coriad Details Coriad Details Coriad Corial Coriad Corial Coriad Coriad Coriad Coriad No No No No No Future correct coriad Future correct coriad	B) meet Vault Attends Date of Arrival (Interpreted balance)	ance Student Report	Aust Report Monitori Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Pupi Premium Pres Shoot Matter Pres Shoot Matter Etheory Pres Shoot Matter Etheory Pres Shoot Matter Etheory Pres Shoot Matter Etheory Pres Shoot Matter Pres Shoot M	ng Hastory 09/03/2009 00/02/2009 00/02/2009 Ves 00/02/2009 Ves 00/02/2009 Ves 00/02/2009 Ves 00/02/2009 Ves 00/02/2009 No No No No	DOB (Age)	Est islam: 01012000 (19)
AS School () (astikuard Report g - Matthew Girenwood (30) • • - Lake Adama (14) • •	Pare Litary Alma Accord 1 Hannah Gri Overview Incerts Overview Incerts Overview Incerts Overview Incerts Special Needs Medical Conditions Units in 0 In LEA Care Tator Group Engists As Additional Longon Engists As Additional	Serror. Contact Detains Contac	B) meet Vault Attends Date of Armal Tomate of Armal	ance Bludent Report	Aust Report Monitori Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Admission Number Admission Date Pup Premum Pres School Maha Eth Natur Eth Natur	ag Hastory 094032009 094032009 1007622 094032009 Yes No Verse No No No No No No	DOB (Age) nal Need	Ed #dom 01012000 (19)
MS School Qualitative Report	Paner Lang Anno Accord to the second to the	Serrery. Contact Detains Fernane Contact Detains	B) meet Vault Attends Date of Armal Torocke of Armal	ance Bludent Report	Aust Report Monitori Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Pup Premum Pres School Malte Eth State Eth State	ag Hastory 094032009 094032009 094032009 1007622 094032009 Yes No Watte - Drissn Englah No Watte - Drissn Englah No No No 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 20	DOB (Age)	Edit Brideric 01012000 (19)
MS School Daxibourd Reports		Serrique Contact Detais Docu Ferraire Contact Detais Docu Ferraire Contact Detais Docu Contact Detais Docu	B) neert Vaust Attende Date of Artival Term / Synemis States	ance Student Airport	Audit Repert Monitori Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Admission Date Pupi Pranium Pres Ecologia Etamacay Pres Stotus Etamacay Pres Stotus Pres Sto	ng Hastory 09/03/2009 00/7022 00/702 00/70	DOB (Age)	Eterraria Dominant as in

You may also report on Custom fields, they will appear for selection within the Filter by Student/ Incident options, or 'Include in report' checkboxes - depending on where the custom field was added to.

24.2 Managing your Custom Fields

You can view and edit your existing custom fields within the 'Admin' area > 'Form Builder' tab, by clicking 'Edit' next to the relevant form name.

If you hover your mouse over a particular custom field the follow icons will appear (to the right-hand side

	1	·	Ē	
of the field) to allow you to amend		\square , or delet	te	the custom field.



25 Custom Field for 'People Involved' when using initials in incident text

If your LA/ Safeguarding Advisor recommends the use of initials in incident/ action text, it can be useful to add a 'Custom Field' for 'People Involved' to use as a key.

i.e. SC = Sue Clegg LW = Laura Wild **Or** Pupil A = Sue Clegg Pupil B = Laura Wild

If you then need to refer back to the incident in the future, you can cross check the initials against the key.

As the 'People Involved' is a custom field you can choose to not include it when running reports, i.e. for a Subject Access Request.

To create a 'People Involved' custom field, please go to 'Admin' and select the 'Form Builder' tab.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student in	ort CPOMS FAQ	REMIND ME HIDE NAMES & PHOTOS BLANK
CPOMS Test School - Dashboard Repo	orting Planner Library Admin Account Settings	🍋 Add Incident 👻 A 👻 L
Admin		
Overview Settings Imports Categories	Agencies Calendar Users Transfers Groups Maps Add Student Form Builder D	ata Destruction Policies Audits Integrations
Form name	Description U	pdated at
Incident form	Incident 20	21-01-20 10:08
Action form	Action Custom Form Builder 20	21-01-19 13:21 Edit
Student form	Student Custom Form Builder 20	21-01-19 13:23 Edit

Click 'Edit' next to the 'Incident form'.

Scroll down to the bottom of the page and click on the **'+ New custom field'** button.





- © Next, complete the 'Custom Field Form':-
- Name enter a name for the custom field, *i.e. People Involved.*
- Categories leave blank, unless you want this field to appear for certain categories only.
- **Kind** choose 'Multiline Text'.
- C Advice message enter an advice message of your choice to guide staff when completing this field *i.e.* Please enter all initials used (in the incident text) and the students full name here, *i.e.* SC = Sue Clegg.

Custom Field Form ×
Name
People Involved
Categories
Kind
Multiline Text *
Advice message
Please enter all initials used (in the incident text) and the students full name here, i.e. SC
Close Save custom field

C And click **'Save custom field'**.

If you would prefer for the field to appear elsewhere on the incident form *i.e. directly beneath the incident text box*, you can drag and drop the field elsewhere.

You may also wish to add an additional 'Advice message' beneath the 'Incident' field for something along the lines of:- *Please use initials for all students, and input their full name in the 'People Involved' field*.

Click on the small pencil icon beneath the 'Incident' field to add one.

- · · · •
field /

Once you have updated the form, scroll down to the bottom of the page again and click **'Update Custom** form' to save your changes.





The field and your advice notes will now appear on the 'Add Incident' form for all staff.

ιr.		
1	Incident	
į.		
ł.		
1		
i.		Please use initials for all students, and input their full name in the 'People Involved' field.
i.	People Involved	
1		
i.		Please enter all initials used (in the incident text) and the students full name here, i.e. SC = Sue Clegg

When running reports on Incidents, you can then tick to include, or un-tick to not include, the 'People Involved' field/ key depending on the type of report you are running.

	Include in report &	Student Name Agencies Edited by Incident Status	Text Date Time Linked Student Names Assigned to	Categories Created By Student Class Tops
1	2	Documents	Incident Summary Line (Custom Field)	People Involved
1		Location (Cristom Field)	Medication (Cristom Field)	bat medication and close given when 'Other'



26 Integrations

eSafe, Senso.cloud, Smoothwall and Trackit Lights integrations are possible within CPOMS for the purpose of delivering information from 3rd Party Integrators, into CPOMS.

Integrations can be requested from directly within your CPOMS 'Admin' area and once submitted, the integration will be established automatically against the parameters you have created. 3rd party integrators can at no time see any information that you have stored in CPOMS and will only have the ability to send relevant information from their side into the relevant student chronology within CPOMS.



27 CPOMS Authenticator App – Setup and FAQs

27.1 How to setup a 'Soft Key'

Step 1 - Download the CPOMS Authenticator App

The new soft key user must firstly download the 'CPOMS Authenticator' app to their chosen device, i.e. their smart phone, tablet or iPad.

You can find the CPOMS Authenticator app by simply searching for the name in your app store, or by using one of the below hyperlinks:-



Step 2 - Log in to your CPOMS Account

Once you have downloaded the app, please log in to your CPOMS account, on a separate device to the one you have downloaded the app to. If you already have an existing key, please log in with it.

<u>If you are using CPOMS for the first time</u>, you will need to request an initial password to log-in firstly, by clicking on the **'Forgotten your password or using CPOMS for the first time?'** option, at your schools CPOMS login page, and following the simple steps.

Once you have logged in to CPOMS, click on the 'Account Settings' section, along the top bar, and then click on the 'Security Keys' tab, to the left-hand side of the screen. Please see below screenshot.

POMS School - Dashboard	Reporting Planner	Library	Admin Acc	ccount Settings					NbA 🐣	Incident	• •	- LOGO
ccount Setting	3											
ccount												
Security keys	CPOMS encoura prove that you an	ages all user re the owner	rs to use a form o r of the account. T	of two-factor authenti The different method	cation. Two-factor authentication improves account se Is available are listed below.	ecurity by requiri	g you to present something extra	a on top of your usual er	nail address and	password w	rhile logging	g in, to
Security keys Security log	CPOMS encours prove that you an	ages all user re the owner	rs to use a form o r of the account. T	of two-factor authenti . The different method	ication. Two-factor authentication improves account se Is available are listed below. me	ecurity by requiri	g you to present something extra	a on top of your usual er Last used	nail address and	password w	rhile logging	g in, to

Under the sub-heading for CPOMS Authenticator, please click on 'Add new device'.

This will then create a QR code for you to scan within your CPOMS Authenticator App.



To scan the QR code, simply open up the app and tap the 'Scan QR Code' message. Now point your device camera towards this image. Once the app has scanned the QR code, it will begin generating random numbers. For security purposes, the numbers will change every 30 seconds as the circle goes round.

*Please continue with the below points to ensure your app is setup correctly and saves to your account.

Next, beneath the QR code image on screen, enter a 'Name' for your device i.e. iPad/ My Phone.

In 'Code' type in the current 6-digit code which is appearing in your app.

Lastly click 'Save this device'.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contac It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of	t Support CPOMS FAQ student information.		REMIND ME HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS School - Dashboard Rep	porting Planner Library Admin Account Se	tings	🌯 Add Incident 👻 🌲 👻 LOGOUT
Account Settings			
Account	CROMS encourance all users to use a form of two fai	tor authentication. Two factor authentication improves account security by requiring you to present compthing evtra on too of	your usual email address and password while logging in to
Security keys	prove that you are the owner of the account. The diffe	on autremication. Involution autremication improves account security by requiring you to present sometiming extra on top or ent methods available are listed below.	your usual email address and password while logging in, to
Security log	CPOMS Authenticator	Name Registered	Last used
	This solution uses the CPOMS Authenticator app on you tablet or mobile to generate One Time Dessurant for us	IPhone 7 IOS Oct 07, 2020	Oct 09, 2020 at 09:44
	when logging in.	Scan the image below using the CPOMS Authenticator app on your mobile phone or tablet device.	Add new device
		Name	
		Choose a name for the device	
		Code	
		Please enter the 6-digit code you see on your device here	
		Save this device	

Once saved, your new Soft Key will appear listed in the CPOMS Authenticator section.

Unverified will appear next to its name until you use the app to login, this is nothing to worry about.

Į	CPOMS Authenticator	Successfully added new two-factor authentication method.			
i,	This solution uses the CPOMS Authenticator app on your tablet or mobile to generate One-Time Passwords for use	Name	Registered	Last used	
ł	when logging in.	iPhone 7 Unverified	Oct 20, 2020	N/A	Ê
Ĺ					

Step 3 - Elevate your Access

To elevate your access, please click on 'Dashboard' to the top left-hand corner of the screen in CPOMS, to refresh your page. To the top right-hand corner of your CPOMS screen, you should now have a 'Elevate Your Access' option to click on. Once selected, enter the 6-digit number appearing on your app currently, and click 'Authenticate'. If you are already logged in with a different key, the 'Elevate Your Access' option will not appear.





If you are in a higher level user group, your access will now change to reflect your user group permissions.

When you log in to CPOMS in the future, your app will give you the option to 'approve' or 'deny' a log in, rather than typing in the code manually each time. Alongside this option, it will display the approximate location of where the login took place (based on the IP address), so you can easily differentiate whether it was you who initiated the login before you choose to click 'approve'.

Permissions

Access permissions in CPOMS are set by the User Group the user has been placed in.

A CPOMS Admin Key Holder can check and update permissions via the CPOMS 'Admin' area > 'Users' tab.

Your current user groups will be listed to the left-hand side of this tab under the title 'User Groups'. To check, or edit, a user group, simply click on the relevant user group name here - or you may create a new one if required under the 'New Group' option.

To change an existing users User Group - Go to 'Admin' > 'Users' and click on the user's name from your list of users. In their profile, click on 'Permissions' to the left, amend their user group from the drop-down options available and 'Save details'.

If you would like to restrict your key users by class or year group under 'Admin' > 'Groups'. Full instructions for this process can be sent on request.



CPOMS 'Soft Key' - FAQs

I have got a new phone?

If you have got a new phone and no longer have access to your previous Soft Key/ App, to set up your new phone you must firstly **remove your previous key**.

A CPOMS <u>Admin Key Holder</u> in school can remove the key for you, within the 'Admin' section, 'Users' tab by clicking into your/ the user's name (into your/ the user's profile) and to the left 'Security Keys'.

Tick 'I confirm that I have read and understand this notice', and the 'Remove this user's 2FA devices' button to remove the key from the user's profile.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact It is your responsibility to logical and protect the security of t	Support CPOMS FAC Adent information.	•			REMIND ME	HERE NAMES & PHOTOS	BLANK	SCREEN
CPOMS School Dashboard Reporting	Planer Library	Admin	Account Settings			۲	6- U	OGOUT
			₽ [#] The	we are possible student transfers awaiting your action. and a m	at			
Admin		_						
Overview Settings Imports Calleg	nies Agencie	Isers th	ansfers Groups Add Sta	dent Custom Fields				
				Suzame Clegg's settings				Į
Personal details								
Permissions	In the case that five in the time between	removing the	oses or no longer has access to al e devices and registering new oner	I of their registered two factor authentication devices listed brid 5. The user account will not be able to access areas of the syste	w, you can remove them, enabling them to register new devices when t m restricted to two-factor users only. Please note, Merliock keys will not	they next log in. I be removed		
Alets	r							
Audts	I confirm	that I hav	e read and understand	this notice.				
Security keys								- 1
	Name		Type	Date Registered	Last Used			- 1
Second of	Key		1,12/F	2018-01-11 10:08:20	2018-06-12 10:27:41			
	Sue Phone		TOTP	2018-04-20 10:09:46	Never			
	Remove this	user's 2F/	\ devices					

Once the previous key has been removed, you may setup a new Soft Key following the original CPOMS 'Soft Key' Setup instructions (click here). Please log out and back in before you begin this process.

My app is asking me to 'Scan QR Code'?

If your app reverts to the 'Scan QR Code' message, it means your app needs to be reconfigured. To do this, you must firstly **remove your previous key**.

A CPOMS <u>Admin Key Holder</u> in school can remove the key for you, within the 'Admin' section, 'Users' tab by clicking into your/ the user's name (into your/ the user's profile) and to the left 'Security Keys'.

Tick 'I confirm that I have read and understand this notice', and the 'Remove this user's 2FA devices' button to remove the key from the user's profile.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Cor It is your responsibility to logoid and protect the security	stact Support CPOMS of student information.	raq			REMIND ME	HIDE NAMES & PHOTOS	BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS School Dashboard Report	ing Planner Libr	ary Admin	Account Settings			۲	A . LOGOUT
			2	There are possible student transfers awaiting your action, attac an	at .		
Admin							
Overview Settings Imports Ca	tegories Agencie	Users	Tarsfers Groups Add	Student Custom Fields			
		· · ·		Buzanne Clegg's settings			
Personal details							
Permissions	In the case that Susaimer Clarg loass or to longer has access to all of their registered two-facts authentication devices liket below; you can remove them, enabling them to register new devices when they next to an to the time belower networks and the devices and registering two outs, the user access at least of the youtern enabling thems out. Phase and the bein moved.						
Alerts	·						
Audts	🗹 i confir	m that I have	ve read and understa	nd this notice.			
Security keys	Name		Troe	Date Reciptered	Last Used	_	_
1-347UM/76g	Kay		U2F	2018-01-11 10:05:20	2018-05-12 10 27.41		
	Sue Phone		TOTP	2018-04-20 10:09:46	Never		
			1				
	Remove th	is user's 2F	A devices				

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 101 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



Once the previous key has been removed, you may setup a new Soft Key following the original CPOMS 'Soft Key' Setup instructions (click here). Please log out and back in before you begin this process.

I cannot access 'Security Keys'?

If you cannot click on the 'Security Keys' tab (within 'Account Settings') to set up a Soft Key, it may be that the system thinks you have a key already. This can occur if perhaps you started the process previously or have got a new phone, or that you have logged in without using your current key.

If you still have access to the previous key please click 'Elevate your access' to the top right.

If you do not have access to the previous key, you must remove the previous key to start the process again.

A CPOMS <u>Admin Key Holder</u> in school can remove the key for you, within the 'Admin' section, 'Users' tab by clicking into your/ the user's name (into your/ the user's profile) and to the left 'Security Keys'.

Tick 'I confirm that I have read and understand this notice', and the 'Remove this user's 2FA devices' button to remove the key from the user's profile.



Once the previous key has been removed, you may setup a new Soft Key following the original CPOMS 'Soft Key' Setup instructions (click here). Please log out and back in before you begin this process.

My location on the app is not accurate?

The location shown on the app is actually taken from the location of your I.P address, so it can sometimes appear to be further afield.

To put your mind at rest you can check the location of your I.P address before choosing to 'approve'.

Simply search 'What's my IP' in a search engine (i.e. Google) on your app device and click on https://whatismyipaddress.com, which is usually the first result. This will then confirm the location of your I.P address, which you can check matches against the location shown in your app.

Or if you would prefer, you can choose to type in the numbers manually into CPOMS, rather than clicking on the approve option.



Error message 'Incorrect or out of date code'?

If you receive an error message which says 'Incorrect or out of date code', when logging in to CPOMS with your key, it means the date and time on the device of your app is out of sync with our servers (it may be slightly fast or slow).

Usually the way to fix this is to amend the date and time setting on the device of your app to 'set automatically'. This ensures the date and time is set identically to our servers.

Error message 'No usable date' when trying to scan the QR code?

This sometimes occurs if you are trying to scan the QR code via the normal camera on your device, rather then through the CPOMS Authenticator App. To scan the QR code, please ensure you have firstly opened the CPOMS Authenticator App, and tapped 'Scan QR Code'. Please then point the camera toward the QR code image when prompted.

SSO Users

If you have an SSO account (Single Sign On) then we have a self service portal where you can manage your SSO account. Here you can change your email address and manage your 2FA device. This can be accessed via:https://auth.meritec.co.uk/.





28 U2F Key setup

If you have been given a U2F key, for two factor authentication use, it must firstly be linked to your CPOMS account.

<u>Before you begin, please ensure that you are using an up-to-date version of **Google Chrome or Firefox.** U2F technology is not currently supported by Internet Explorer or Safari.</u>

Please note, that each new U2F key holder must set up their own key.

Step 1 - Log in to your CPOMS Account

Please log in to your CPOMS account, if you already have an existing key, i.e. *a Soft Key or another USB key*, please log in with it.

<u>If you are using CPOMS for the first time</u>, you will need to request an initial password to log-in firstly, by clicking on the **'Forgotten your password or using CPOMS for the first time?'** option, at your schools CPOMS login page, and following the simple steps.

Step 2 – Go to 'Account Settings' > 'Security Keys'

Once you have logged in to CPOMS, click on the **'Account Settings'** section, along the top bar, and then click on the **'Security Keys'** tab, to the left-hand side of the screen.

Under the sub-heading for U2F Keys, please click on 'Register a new U2F key'.

A pop-up will then appear where you will be asked to choose a **'Device Name'** for the key, *i.e. U2F Key*, and **'Start Registration'**. You will then be prompted to insert the U2F key into your PC or laptop, and press the gold disc to link this key to your account.

If Windows Security asks you to create a PIN, enter one and click OK (this option does not appear in all versions of Windows). Your PIN is stored locally on your security key.

Once complete, the pop-up will say 'Successfully added new U2F key. You can now close this window'.

Step 3 - Elevate your Access

To elevate your access, please click on **'Dashboard'** to the top left-hand corner of the screen in CPOMS, to refresh your page. To the top right-hand corner of your CPOMS screen, you should now have a **'Elevate Your Access'** option to click on. Select this and follow the on-screen instructions. *If you are already logged in with* a different key, the 'Elevate Your Access' option will not appear.

If you are in a higher level user group, your access will now change to reflect your user group permissions.



29 Extra Features

A few final features on CPOMS are the **Remind Me, Hide Names** and the **Blank Screen** mode, as well as the **Contact Support** function. You will find these at the top left and right of each page throughout the system.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support C It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student inform	SPOMS FAQ	REMIND ME HIDE NAMES E	BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS School Dashboard Reporting Planne	r Library Admin Account Settings	Personal Reminder	LOGOUT
Quick Student Search	Dashboard	Title	
Press Enter to search	Alert	Text	
Monitored students Include archived students	Chice Kelan added an incident for Hannah Greenwood Child Protection Home Issues		
	Chloe Kelan added an incident for Danielle Bradshaw (Home Issues)	1	
Filter By Group	Wendy Abbott added an incident for Asif Hussain (SEND)	Reminder Sat 18 August 2018	
• RA	My History	2:04PM or in 1 day \$	
• RB • 1A	You have not logged any incidents or actions in the last 7 days.	Save Event	
• 1B • 2A			
• 2B • 3A			

29.1 Remind Me

The **Remind Me** function is linked to the Planner area, it quickly enables you to add any personal or CPOMS reminders. This can be useful when dealing with an incident that you need to follow up on at a later date. By adding a reminder you will receive a prompt on your dashboard and also a notification via email at a time of your choosing.

REMIND ME HIDE NAMES B	LANK SCREEN
Personal Reminder	LOGOUT
Title	
Text	
Reminder	
🛗 Sat 18 August 2018	
2:04PM or in 1 day \$	
Save Event	

29.2 Hide Names

The **Hide Names** mode, available in the top right-hand corner of your screen, will star out the names of all students within the system – therefore if you produce a class list you will only see the first letter of each first name and surname. This follows suit throughout every page until you turn it off by re-clicking the button, which would now be called **Show Names**.

29.3 Blank Screen

The **Blank Screen** mode, available in the top right-hand corner of your screen, will quickly provide you with a cover to hide your screen; for example, if you are perhaps interrupted by someone who you do not want



to see your screen when adding an incident or running a report, without having to lose where you are in the system.

The blank screen mode will automatically activate after fifteen minutes of inactivity. If you would like to adjust this time, you can do so in the 'Admin' area > 'System Settings' tab > 'Idle Timeout' section.



N.B We do always recommend that you **log out** completely if you are leaving your computer for any time.

29.4 Contact Support

Lastly we have the **Contact Support** function, to the left-hand side of your screen. You can choose to contact our Customer Support Team from within the system saving you precious time. Simply click on the 'Contact Support' button, enter your subject, phone number, message and submit. This will then be sent directly to our CPOMS helpdesk where someone will carry out your request as soon as possible and notify you once it has been completed.

Contact Support is for any and all queries, however, if your request is **URGENT** please contact us by **telephone** on **01756 797766.**

Ů

N.B Please note, any official requests are required in writing, therefore if you contact us via telephone you will often be referred to the Contact Support function.

ebsite onsibi	e CPOMS ility to logout	User Guide Contact Support CPOMS FAQ and protect the security of student information.	
Scl	Subject		у
tuc	Phone		Da
Ent	Message		
ore le a			Mer
		li li	'ou
۶G	F	Please provide as much detail as you can about he nature of your request.	/ly /
	\langle	Send	'ou
L			Mv I

29.5 Import Health

There is also an **'Import health'** traffic light indicator on the dashboard which displays green, amber or red depending on when we last received an import. If you notice that there has been a change in health, it may require a reboot of the MIS imports. If your MIS import is not running successfully, your class and staff lists, as well as attendance figures will not be accurate.

Please feel free to contact us via the 'Contact Support' function if this occurs and we can provide you with the necessary instructions to restart the imports.



30 Non Key User - Restricted System Access

30.1 Using CPOMS for the first time

Firstly every user needs to set their own password.

To ensure that all users change their password to something that is personal and secure, we <u>do not</u> provide you with a password to begin with.

To create your first password please visit your school's CPOMS URL.

Click on the 'Forgotten your password or using CPOMS for the first time?' option (beneath the 'Login' button).



When prompted, input the email address which was supplied to us and click **'Reset Password'**. This will then send you a unique hyperlink, to that email address, which will enable you to create your first CPOMS password.



Please note, the reset password link **expires at midnight** on the day it was sent, so should be generated on the day you are going to log in to CPOMS.

Once you have created your first password, go back to your CPOMS log in page and enter your email address, password and click the **'Login'** button.

30.2 Restricted Access Dashboard

Once you are logged in to CPOMS, you will see an 'Alert' and 'My History' section.

If you have been alerted to anything at all within CPOMS it will display within your 'Alert' section to view.

The **'My History'** section will list any incidents or actions that you have added in the last 7 days, for your information.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 107 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



31 Viewing an Incident

CPOMS System User Guide

If you have been sent any alerts at all, you will also receive an email to your school email address (or the one which we have been given) to make you aware of the fact that you have been sent an alert by a member of staff in school.

The email will tell you who has created the alert and which category it falls under but <u>no other information</u>. It will then give you a link to your CPOMS log in page to view the content in full.

89	୰↑↓▼	New Incident Alert	- Message (HTML)	(7)	m	_ /×/
File Me	essage Help 🖓 Te	II me what you want to o	io			
©3 ∭ A → Delete Delete	Archive → Forward C0 ~ Respond	 ➡ Archive Emails ➡ To Manager ➡ Team Email Quick Steps 	Move Tag	s Editing Speed	th Zoom) Insights
New Inc	ident Alert					
() If there a	POMS CPOMS School <n Suzanne Clegg re problems with how this messag</n 	otifications@cpoms.r re is displayed, click here to	view it in a web brow	ply 🛞 Reply All ser.	→ Forwi Mon 04/	ard 01/2021 14:15
		C				
You have a new incident alert						
	Selene Brammah has alerted you to an incident within the following categories:					
		Cause for Click here to view	Concern v this incidents			
		C				
	This is an automatically generated who raised this alert their email ad-	email from CPOMS. Please o dress is: <u>selene brammah@cp</u>	to not reply to this em <u>xorm co.uk</u>	sil. If you want to reply b	o the user	
	If you feel you should not have rec-	eived this notification, please	contact your school's CF	POMS administrator.		
	@ CPOMS Systems Ltd. 2021					

Once logged into the dashboard you will see your list of alerts. It will again tell you which member of staff has alerted you, which student the alert is about, the category(s) the incident falls under and when the incident alert was created.

If you now click on the word '<u>Incident'</u> you will be taken directly to view the incident.

POMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Support CPOMS FAQ ELEVATE YOUR ACCESS HIDE NAMES BLANK SCR is your responsibility to logoul and protect the security of student information.				
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard	Library Account Settings	Add Incident 🛛 🔹 🕹 🗸 Add Uncident		
Recently Viewed	Dashboard			
Incident for Danielle Bradshaw about 2 hours ago	Alert	Added		
Student: Hannah Greenwood • • • • about 3 hours ago	Chloe Kelan ad an incident for anielle Bradshaw (Home Issues)	2 hours ago by Chloe Kelan		
Student: Danielle Bradshaw	Wendy Abbott added an Incident for Asif Hussain (SEND)	4 hours ago by Wendy Abbott		
Incident for Hannah Greenwood	My Assigned	Added		
see more 🛩	You are not assigned any open cases.			
	My History	Added		
	You have not logged any incidents or actions in the last 7 days.			

Once you have read and dealt with the incident, you can choose to **'Add Action'** below the content, to add in the detail of any action you have taken, or what you would now like a colleague to follow up.




Once you have added your action you may mark the incident as read to acknowledge that you have seen the incident and understand the content.

mark as read



N.B Please note as you do not have key access, once you have marked the incident as read, the alert will disappear from your alerts dashboard and you will not be able to read it again. Therefore if you are required to add any further actions make sure to do this <u>before</u> you select the 'mark as read'.



32 Adding an Action

Once you have read an alert, you can then log an action. This is very similar to incident logging and you can choose to alert other staff in the same manner. You can then make sure that there is a clear trail of what has been done, by whom and when. This ensures that everyone alerted has an up-to-date knowledge of what is happening with that student/ incident.

CPCOMS Primary Solvol Laker <th>CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide t is your responsibility to logout and protect the</th> <th>Contact Support CPOMS FAQ ELEVATE YOUR ACCESS HIDE NAMES B security of student information.</th> <th>LANK SCREEN</th>	CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide t is your responsibility to logout and protect the	Contact Support CPOMS FAQ ELEVATE YOUR ACCESS HIDE NAMES B security of student information.	LANK SCREEN
Viewing Incident - Danielle Bradshaw (4B)	CPOMS Primary School 🗸	Dashboard Library Account Settings Add Incident - 4	LOGOUT
a brief bein neutricely is standing of the neutricely in the standing of the core is after school and before hand is word if the to parage as in-school meeting to dividual school school and before hand is word if the to parage as in-school meeting to dividual school school and before hand is word if the to parage as in-school meeting to dividual school school and before hand is word if the top aradem as in the school and before hand is word if the top aradem as in the school meeting to dividual school and the school and the school meeting to dividual school and the school meeting to dividual school and the school and the school meeting to dividual school and the school meeting to dividual school and the school and the school meeting to dividual school and the school meeting to dividual school and the	Viewing Inciden	t - Danielle Bradshaw (4B)	
Che Kaan akered you to this incider.	Chloe Kelan Mon 24/10/2016 16:58 (Home Issues) Status: N/A Assigned to: Nobody	49 Danielle's next review is scheduled to be next week. Mum is going to come in after school and before hand I would like to arrange an in-school meeting to discuss re progress and results.	cent
Add Action CPOMS Primary School Databoard Laray Account Sets Add Action State: Marked Mar	Chloe Kelan alerted you to this incid	ent. next alert >	mark as read
Action Taken	CPOMS Primary School +	Dashboard Library Account Seth. Add Incident - A	LOGOUT
Add Categories Agency Involved DaterTime Image: Med 06 January 2021 4:12PM Files Click to browse or drag a file to upload Atert Staff Members Begin typing a staff member's name Image: Image	Assigned to: Nobody Action Taken		
Agency Involved Date/Time Image: Med 06 January 2021 4:12PM Files Click to browse or drag a file to upload Click to browse or drag a file to upload Alert Staff Members Begin typing a staff member's name StT Teachers Add Incident alert recipients These user(s) were alerted to the corresponding incident. Add Action	Add Ostanovica		æ
Agency involved Date/Time Imagency involved Imagency involved <t< td=""><td>Add Categories</td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Add Categories		
Daterrine If Wed 06 January 2021 4:12PM Files Click to browse or drag a file to upload Alert Staff Members Begin typing a staff member's name StT Teachers Add Incident alert recipients These user(s) were alerted to the corresponding incident.	Agency Involved		
Files Click to browse or drag a file to upload Alert Staff Members Begin typing a staff member's name StT Teachers Add incident alert recipients These user(s) were alerted to the corresponding incident. Add Action Add Action	Date/Time	Wed 06 January 2021 4:12PM	
Alert Staff Members Begin typing a staff member's name Image: Comparison of the comparison of t	Files	Click to browse or drag a file to upload	
SLT Teachers Add incident alert recipients These user(s) were alerted to the corresponding incident. Add Action	Alert Staff Members	Begin typing a staff member's name	•
Add incident alert recipients These user(s) were alerted to the corresponding incident. Add Action		SLT Teachers	
Add Action		Add incident alert recipients These user(s) were alerted to the corresponding incident.	
		Add Action	

C Action Taken

Firstly fill in the free text box with all of the information needed about the action taken. This could be a referral made, telephone call or meeting arranged, for example.

C Add Categories

If required, you can add additional categories to the action which will be displayed against the original incident.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 110 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



C Add action to linked students

If you would like the action to be copied to the linked students profile, click on the tick box to 'Add action to linked students' next and 'Share documents?' if necessary.

C Agency Involved

You can also add any agency names to the action to make others aware of which agencies are involved with this action/ pupil.

© Date/ Time

Select the date and time you wish to record, if it is different to the current.

© Files

If you would like to attach a file/ document to support the incident *e.g. a social services letter, email, or meeting minutes etc.* you can do so at this point. Simply click to browse and find the relevant document on your machine and add or drag a file from one of your folders into the area to upload.

C Alert Staff Members

Next, you can choose which members of staff you wish to alert. Begin typing a name and CPOMS will filter through all CPOMS registered staff members for you to select from. Alternatively you can select to alert an entire alert group by choosing the relevant alert group button(s) available beneath the individual alert option.

Or you may click **'Add incident alert recipients'** to alert the same staff members who were alerted to the original incident.

Once all of the above has been done, you must select the **'Add Action'** button to submit. This will then send out email alerts to all of the selected staff members telling them that they need to log in to CPOMS to look at a newly added action.



33 Adding an Incident

To add a new incident to the system click on the **'Add Incident'** button, available to the top right of your dashboard.

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide Contact Supp It is your responsibility to logout and protect the security of student	port CPOMS FAQ t information.	ELEVATE YOUR ACCESS HIDE NAMES BLANK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School - Dashboard	Library Account Settings	Add Incident
Recently Viewed	Dashboard	
Incident for Danielle Bradshaw	Alert	Added
Student: Hannah Greenwood 💿 🌑 🔹 about 3 hours ago	Chloe Kelan added an incident for Danielle Bradshaw Home Issues	2 hours ago by Chloe Kelan
Student: Danielle Bradshaw	Wendy Abbott added an incident for Asif Hussain (SEND)	4 hours ago by Wendy Abbott
Incident for Hannah Greenwood	My Assigned	Added
see more 💌	You are not assigned any open cases.	
	My History	Added
	You have not logged any incidents or actions in the last 7 days.	

You will then be taken to the 'Add Incident' form, where you can fill in all of the details about the incident.



Add Incident Form (Non-Key Holder)

CPOMS Website CPOMS User Guide It is your responsibility to logout and protect the s	Contact Support CPOMS FAQ ELEVATE YOUR ACCESS HIDE NAMES BLAN security of student information.	IK SCREEN
CPOMS Primary School +	Dashboard Library Account Settings Add Incident 👻 🌲 👻	LOGOUT
		Deat
Student	Begin typing a student's name	- Back
Incident		-1
Categories		- 10
	Attainment Attendance Benaviour Bullying Bullying Prendsnip Related Issues Contact with External Agency Home Issues Medical Issues Parental Contact Prevent Safeguarding SEND Team Teach Incident	
Linked etudent(a)	Verbal & Aggressive incidents	
Linked student(s)	Begin typing a student's name Type a student's name to link them to this incident.	Ŧ
Maps		
Date/Time	Wed 06 January 2021 4:19PM	
Status	Active	¥
Assign to	Begin typing a staff member's name	¥
Files		
	Cilick to browse or drag a file to upload	
Alert Staff Members	Begin typing a staff member's name	Ŧ
	SLI teachers Type a colleague's name or select an alert group to alert them to this incident. Colleagues highlighted in red would not normally be able to view this incident.	
Agency Involved		
	Submit Incident	
	CPOMS © 2021, CPOMS Systems Limited. v5.18.0 🎽	

C Student

Begin to type in part of the name of the student that you would like to add an incident about. This will begin to filter through all of the student names held within the system. Once their name appears for selection, please click on it. *If you select the wrong name click on the 'x' delete button to choose an alternative student.*

© Incident

Fill in the 'Incident' text box with all of the details about the incident which you are adding. This is a free text box so you can add as much or as little as needed. Be careful to be **accurate** and **specific**.



When inputting any linked student names into the incident text box, please ensure that you spell their name **identically** to how it is spelt within your MIS. This ensures that if the school needs to use the 'Hide Names' feature when reporting in the future, their name will be detected and blanked out.

CPOMS System User Guide



If a student mentioned in the incident text will <u>not</u> be linked into the incident their name will not automatically be picked up by the 'Hide Names' feature should the school need to use it.

If recommended by your LA/Safeguarding Advisor <u>or</u> if you have a 'People Involved' custom field setup, you may use their initials instead or terms such as mum/ dad/ brother/ sister within the incident text.

© Categories

Once you have filled in all of the details about the incident, you need to select at least one category to assign it to. If there is an overlap you may select more than one.

C Linked student(s)

You can then choose to link in other students if more than one is involved in a particular incident. This will copy the incident to all pupils selected. You can also click to monitor the linked student under the same category(s) if necessary and choose whether to share any documents you attach to the incident to their profile(s) as well.

C Maps

The 'Maps' feature allows you to apply numbered markers to a map image to support your incident text. This will default to our 'Body Map'.

C Date/Time

Following this you can select a date and time. These will both default to the current date and time, however if you wish to change it to when the incident actually occurred you can do so here.

C Status

You may set the 'Status' of the incident to 'Active' or 'Closed'.

C Assign to

You may also assign an incident to a specific staff member (*Key Holders Only*) if they will be dealing with it, by selecting their name in the 'Assign to' field. The chosen user will then receive an email notification to alert them to this and the incident will appear in the 'My Assigned' area of their dashboard until the incident status changes to 'Closed'

© Files

If you would like to attach a file/ document to support the incident *e.g. a social services letter, previous school case notes, or meeting minutes etc.* you can do so at this point. Simply click to browse and find the relevant document on your machine and add or drag a file from one of your folders into the area to upload.

C Alert Staff Members

Next, you can choose which members of staff you wish to alert. Begin typing a name and CPOMS will filter through all CPOMS registered staff members for you to select from. Alternatively you can select to alert an entire alert group by choosing the relevant alert group button(s) available beneath the individual alert option.



C Agency Involved

You can also add any agency names to the incident to make others aware of which agencies are involved with this incident/ pupil.

Once all of the above has been done, you must select the **'Add Incident'** button to submit. This will then send out email alerts to all of the selected staff members telling them that they need to log in to CPOMS to look at a newly added incident.



34 Extra Features

A few final features on CPOMS are the **Hide Names** and the **Blank Screen** mode, as well as the **Contact Support** function. You will find these at the top left and right of each page throughout the system.

34.1 Hide Names

The **Hide Names** mode, available in the top right-hand corner of your screen, will star out the names of all students within the system. This follows suit throughout every page until you turn it off by re-clicking the button, which would now be called Show Names.

34.2 Blank Screen

The **Blank Screen** mode, available in the top right-hand corner of your screen, will quickly provide you with a cover to hide your screen; for example, if you are perhaps interrupted by someone who you do not want to see your screen when adding a new incident, without having to lose where you are in the system.

The blank screen mode will automatically activate after fifteen minutes of inactivity.



N.B We do always recommend that you log out completely if you are leaving your computer for any time.

34.3 Contact Support

Lastly we have the **Contact Support** function, to the left-hand side of your screen. You can choose to contact our Customer Support Team from within the system saving you precious time. Simply click on the 'Contact Support' button, enter your message and submit it. This will then be sent directly to our CPOMS helpdesk where someone will carry out your request as soon as possible and notify you once it has been completed.



N.B Please note, any official requests are required in writing, therefore if you contact us via telephone you will often be referred to the Contact Support function.



CPOMS System User Guide

Page 116 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



35 Frequently Asked Questions

How do I reset my, or another users, CPOMS password?

Please select the **'Forgotten your password or using CPOMS for the first time?'** option, beneath the 'Login' button at your usual CPOMS log-in page.

Simply input the email address which was supplied to us (this can be your own, or another users) and click 'Reset Password'.

This will then send you/ the user a unique link to the email address provided, where you/ they can create a new CPOMS password.

When I try to reset my password I receive the error 'The email address you entered does not exist'?

Please firstly check that you are on the **correct URL** (web address) for your schools CPOMS log-in page, and that the email address you are inputting **does not contain any spelling mistakes or typos.**

This error can occur if you have not been added to CPOMS. Please contact your CPOMS Administrator to check and arrange this, via the CPOMS 'Admin' area > 'Users' tab by clicking on your name, into your profile page.

This error can occur if we have a different email address assigned to your account, or if there is a spelling error in it. Please contact your CPOMS Administrator to check and amend this, again via the CPOMS 'Admin' area > 'Users' tab.

Also, if your school has a mixture of 'Identity' and 'SSO' (Single Sign On) users, please ensure you are selecting the correct 'Authentication Provider' for your account type when trying to reset your password:-

- If you have access to one school/ CPOMS system please choose 'CPOMS Identity'.
- If you have access to more than one CPOMS system (including CPOMS StaffSafe) please choose <u>'CPOMS SSO'</u> - if SSO has been setup for your account.

What's the difference between the Soft Key and the Physical U2F USB key?

The CPOMS Authenticator app (Soft Key) works in much the same way as the latest revisions of Internet Banking in that it generates an ever changing 6-digit security code (to use alongside your email and password) to enable higher level access in CPOMS. The app must be downloaded to an iOS or Android tablet / smartphone device but can be used to log in to CPOMS on all devices, including your laptop/ PC, by inputting the number displayed on the app when prompted.

The USB key works in much the same way as the soft key, but as a physical USB device - so rather than inputting the 6-digit code provided in the app, you would plug the USB key into your PC and press the button on the key itself which will generate a unique code.

How can I set up the CPOMS Authenticator app (Soft Key)?

Please <u>click here</u> for instructions.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 117 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



How can I set up my USB/ U2F Key?

Please <u>click here</u> for instructions.

Soft Key Error - 'Incorrect or out of date code'

If you receive an error message which says 'Incorrect or out of date code', when logging in to CPOMS with your key, it means the date and time on the device of your app is out of sync with our servers (it may be slightly fast or slow).

Usually the way to fix this is to amend the date and time setting on the device of your app to 'set automatically'.

Please ensure the time zone is set to 'London GMT', which ensures the date and time is set identically to our servers.

USB Key Error - 'Unable to verify your U2F key'

This error usually occurs for one of the following reasons:-

- You are using the incorrect U2F key keys are assigned to an individual user, please ensure that you have the correct key
- You are on the incorrect CPOMS url each CPOMS url is unique to the individual school, please ensure that you are on the correct url for your school
- You do not have a key assigned, as keys are assigned to a specific user, they must be re-programmed to work for a new user
- © Please also ensure the CAPS Lock option is switched off.

How do I monitor a student in CPOMS?

A student will automatically become monitored as new incidents are added by staff. You can also choose to monitor a student manually within their 'Overview' tab, by selecting the 'Edit Information' button (to the right-hand corner). From here you can simply tick the relevant category name(s) and scroll down to 'Update Student' to save.

How do I un-monitor a student

To un-monitor a student for a certain category, access their profile, *via the class list or the quick student search*, on their 'Overview' page, click on the **'Edit Information'** button. Scroll down the page to the 'Monitoring Options' area and simply un-tick the category(s) you would like to un-monitor them for, and 'Update Student'.



How do I monitor/ un-monitor in bulk for a certain category

To monitor or un-monitor a group of students for a certain category, from the main dashboard you can either click on your different category names (to the left-hand side, to see who is monitored for what), or you may click into a class list (i.e. a whole tutor group or year group). Next, to the right-hand side of the screen (above the student names) you can select to **'Update Categories'**. Once selected, a tick box will appear to the left of each student's name, tick the relevant students that you wish to monitor/ un-monitor and 'Continue'. You can then choose a category name and choose to either 'Add' or 'Remove' it from the selected students, as well as choose a start date, or if needed you may wipe all categories.

This is important to ensure your monitored student figures are accurate and up to date.

How do I run a full student report/ chronology?

To run a full student report in CPOMS, access the student's profile via their class list, or using the 'Quick Student Search' option and click on their name, into their profile.

- Within the student's profile, click on the **'Student Report'** tab.
- © Under 'Include in report' tick to include 'Incidents' in addition.

In the additional 'Filter Incident' options that now appear, you may wish to tick **'Include Linked Incidents'** to ensure you receive any incidents the student has been linked in to also. You may also wish to choose to **Hide Student and/ or Staff Names** in the report.

- © For all records please ignore the further filter options, or you may apply specific dates or select certain categories here.
- © Scroll down to the **'Report format'** and amend this to **'PDF (print view)'**.
- © If required enter a 'PDF password' to password protect the report, and 'Generate Report'.
- C This will then generate a PDF copy of the student's incidents which you can then print or save electronically.

You can run all reports within CPOMS in 'Enquiry View' to view the report on screen, or 'PDF (Print View)' to create a printable PDF copy.

Useful Reports Guide

Please <u>click here</u> to view the useful reports section.

How do I add our school logo to reports?

To add your school logo to appear in the header of PDF reports, firstly upload the school logo into your CPOMS 'Library' area, in your preferred size.

Next, navigate to your CPOMS 'Admin' area, selecting the 'Settings' tab. Scroll down to 'School Logo', select the relevant logo here and click 'Update Settings'.



How do I access an archived student's profile/ incidents?

Once a student is marked as archived in your MIS, they will automatically become archived in CPOMS on the next import.

You can still always access and add to the students profile as normal. You just need to tick the 'Include archived students' check box, beneath the 'Quick Student Search' box, when searching.

If you are unable to view archived students, you will also need to make sure you have access to un-grouped students. You can check this within the 'Admin' area > 'Users' tab, click into your name and to the left 'Permissions'. Within permissions, simply select the tick box here:- 'Can view students who don't have a group (typically archived)' and 'Save'.

Can I edit/ remove an incident or action?

Admin key holders can choose to edit and remove both incidents and actions within CPOMS.

The 'Edit' and 'Delete' functions are available within each child's profile > 'Incidents' tab, in the top right-hand corner of each individual incident/ action, under '<u>Options</u>'.

For more information about this <u>click here</u>.

How do I remove a document/ file?

Admin key holders can remove incorrect or unwanted files within CPOMS; via the students document vault, or if added to an incident or action simply locate the incident within the child's incidents tab, and in the right-hand corner of the specific incident/ action under 'Options' click 'Edit' – you can then remove the attached file(s), and save.

Can we re-use/ re-program U2F/ USB keys?

If the small key code on the back of the key begins with 55 or higher, or starts with a 7, it can be reprogrammed in school, please see the below instructions. Older keys which do not start with these numbers can no longer be reprogrammed I'm afraid, as the technology used is no longer supported.

To reprogram a U2F/ USB key in school, you must firstly remove the U2F/ USB key from its previous owner.

A CPOMS Admin Key Holder in school can remove the key, within the 'Admin' area > 'Users' tab, by clicking on the previous key holder's name and within their profile, to the left 'Security Keys'.

Once the key has been removed, it must be linked to the new key holder's account by following the <u>U2F Key</u> <u>Setup Instructions</u> in their own CPOMS login.



How do I order a new U2F/ USB key?

To order a new U2F/ USB Key please **download the below order form** from our website and **return via email to** <u>ps@cpoms.co.uk</u>.

New Key Order Form (U2F/ USB)

Additional USB keys are currently £27.50 + VAT, per key (13/06/2022).

We are missing a student/class?

If you notice that you are missing students, or your classes do not appear to be up to date this is often a sign that your import is no longer running successfully.

You can check the status of your import via the 'import health' traffic light indicator on your schools dashboard, or within the 'Admin' area > 'Imports' tab.

Please feel free to contact us via 'Contact Support' if this occurs and we can provide you with the necessary instructions to restart your imports.

My import status is 'failing'?

If your 'import health' traffic light indicator changes to 'failing' this means your import link has been broken.

Please feel free to contact us via 'Contact Support' if this occurs and we can provide you with the necessary instructions to restart your imports.

I cannot see a students transfer information?

Once the transfer status changes to 'Transferred', the new school will receive the student's full transfer information.

The schools/ students' previous incident categories are brought across to CPOMS also, under a main category of 'Legacy', with sub-categories of the previous school's category names.

The Legacy categories are automatically deactivated, and the permissions are set to blank, to ensure that no new incidents can be logged against them and that only the correct level of staff at the new school can access the transferred information.

Therefore in order to gain access to the transferred information, an Admin key user needs to set the permissions for each Legacy category, and any sub-categories within the **'Admin'** area > **'Users'** tab, by clicking into the top level User Group name, i.e. SLT, to the right-hand side of this page.

Within the User Group **'Category Permissions'** please tick 'View Students' and 'View Incidents' against each Legacy category, and any sub-categories, ensuring you 'Save Group' once ticked.

Please leave the 'Add Incidents' column un-ticked, and all of the Legacy categories de-activated so that no new incidents can be logged against them.

CPOMS System User Guide

Page 121 of 123 © CPOMS Systems Limited 2022 CPOMS-1009-v3



Once the category permissions have been switched on, the transferred information will appear within the students profile > 'Incidents' tab in date order, and any files within their 'Document Vault' tab.

For full information regarding CPOMS transfers, please <u>click here</u>.

Member of staff not appearing in 'Add user' drop down list?

To appear in the 'New User' drop down list, staff must be added to your MIS, as a permanent staff member, with a current start date and full-time employment. Your imports must also be up and running successfully to be kept up to date.

If you have de-activated this user at some point, an Admin key user can re-activate them within the 'Admin' area > 'Users' tab, by selecting the 'Deactivated User' button in the right-hand corner.

Or, if you would like to add a member of staff who is not in your MIS system for any reason, choose the 'Add Non-MIS User'.

Clear Dashboard Alerts

A CPOMS <u>Admin Key Holder</u> can clear dashboard alerts in full by navigating to 'Admin' > 'Users' and clicking on the relevant user's name from the list of users. In the user's profile, click on 'Alerts' to the left. Next to 'Clear user's dashboard alerts' enter the dates you would like to remove the alerts between and click the 'Remove dashboard alerts' button.

Please note, this will remove all of the user's dashboard alerts within the input timeframe so should only be selected if you are happy that they have been dealt with.



36 CPOMS Support

Should you require any support at all for CPOMS our contact details are as follows:-

CPOMS Systems I Unit 7 Acorn Business Pa Skipton North Yorkshire BD23 2UE	.imited ark			
Telephone:-	01756	797766		
e-Mail:-	<u>suppo</u>	rt@cpoms.co.uk		
O <u>Twitter</u>		f <u>Facebook</u>	Instagram	in <u>LinkedIn</u>

There is also a built in **'Contact Support'** function within CPOMS (located in the top-left corner when you are logged in to CPOMS) which links directly to our helpdesk.

The office is open Monday to Thursday 8:30am to 5:30pm, and Friday 8:30am to 5pm.

If your request is URGENT please always contact us by telephone.